



NATIONAL BROADBAND NETWORK B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION

RELEASE 1

DECEMBER 2010

NBN B2B Interaction Process Requirements Specification – Release 1

Communications Alliance Ltd (formerly Australian Communications Industry Forum Ltd) was formed in 2006 to provide a unified voice for the Australian communications industry and to lead it into the next generation of converging networks, technologies and services.

Disclaimers

- 1) Notwithstanding anything contained in this Industry Guideline:
 - a) Communications Alliance disclaims responsibility (including where Communications Alliance or any of its officers, employees, agents or contractors has been negligent) for any direct or indirect loss, damage, claim, or liability any person may incur as a result of any:
 - i) reliance on or compliance with this Industry Guideline;
 - ii) inaccuracy or inappropriateness of this Industry Code/Guideline; or
 - iii) inconsistency of this Industry Guideline with any law; and
 - b) Communications Alliance disclaims responsibility (including where Communications Alliance or any of its officers, employees, agents or contractors has been negligent) for ensuring compliance by any person with this Industry Code/Guideline.
- 2) The above disclaimers will not apply to the extent they are inconsistent with any relevant legislation.

Copyright

© Communications Alliance Ltd 2010

This document is copyright and must not be used except as permitted below or under the *Copyright Act 1968*. You may reproduce and publish this document in whole or in part for your or your organisation's own personal or internal compliance, educational or non-commercial purposes. You must not alter or amend this document in any way. You must not reproduce or publish this document for commercial gain without the prior written consent of Communications Alliance. Organisations wishing to reproduce or publish this document for commercial gain (i.e. for distribution to subscribers to an information service) may apply to subscribe to the Communications Alliance Publications Subscription Service by contacting the Communications Alliance Commercial Manager at info@commsalliance.com.au. If you publish any part of this document for any purpose, you must also publish this copyright notice as part of that publication.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE	3
	1.1 Introduction	3
	1.2 Purpose	3
	1.3 Scope	3
	1.4 Relationship with other Communications Alliance NBN Worki	ng Groups 3
	1.5 Process Framework	5
2	ACRONYMS AND ALIGNMENT OF TERMS	6
	2.1 Acronyms	6
	2.2 Alignment of Terms	8
3	INDUSTRY PARTICIPANTS' ROLES AND RELATIONSHIPS	12
4	MULTIPLE PROVIDERS AND ACQUIRERS CONTEXT INTERACTION PRO	CESS
	MODEL	14
5	FULFILMENT	15
	5.1 Pre-Order Management	15
	5.2 Order Management	28
6	APPOINTMENT MANAGEMENT	43
	6.1 High Level Interaction Process	43
	6.2 Appointment Management User Stories	44
7	ASSURANCE	52
	7.1 High Level Interaction Process	52
	7.2 Assurance User Stories	53
8	BILLING	63
	8.1 Tariff/Pricing	63
	8.2 Billing Event Files (BEF)	65
	8.3 Billing Invoices	69
	8.4 Billing Enquiries/Disputes	73
	8.5 Bill Reporting	74
9	PRODUCT CATALOGUE ENQUIRY-USER STORIES	76
10	NETWORK TESTING, PERFORMANCE & DIAGNOSTICS MANAGEMENT	78
	10.1 Network Testing & Diagnostics	78
	10.2 Performance – SLA/QOS Management	79
11	NON-FUNCTIONAL REQUIREMENTS	80
	11.1 B2B Certification	80
	11.2 Security	80
	11.3 Auditability	80
RELE	I B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION EASE 1 CEMBER 2010	COPYRIGHT

	11.4 B2B Service Assurance 11.5 Performance & Performance Management	80 80
12	REFERENCES	81

1 INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

1.1 Introduction

- 1.1.1 This document has been developed by the Operational working group of the Communications Alliance National Broadband Network (NBN) Project. It does not necessarily represent outcomes or recommendations of the Communications Alliance.
- 1.1.2 This document is to be read in conjunction with other relevant NBN Project documents including, but not limited to the draft *End User Migration Reference Model* and *End User Premises Handbook.*
- 1.1.3 This version of the B2B Interaction Process Requirements Specification has been published as Draft Release 1 and contains sections and areas of work which are subject to further development.

1.2 Purpose

The draft NBN B2B Interaction Process Requirements Specification outlines automated business transactions requirements between Provider (Service Provider) and Acquirer (Acquirer) using Business-to-Business (B2B) interfaces that will enable participating Retail Service Providers to facilitate the delivery of a working service to an End User on the National Broadband Network.

The proposed transaction models identified in this specification are based on the NICC B2B and ITU 3340 standards. As new requirements and issues emerge this document will be updated to drive improvements to the current proposed Fulfilment, Assurance and Billing B2B interaction processes.

1.3 Scope

The target audience of this Specification is National Broadband Network (NBN) infrastructure providers and retail and wholesale service providers (both fixed line and fixed wireless). This document is not intended to serve as a guide to End Users.

It should be noted that this version of the specification has been published as Release 1 and contains sections and areas of work which are subject to further development

1.4 Relationship with other Communications Alliance NBN Working Groups

1.4.1 The work of the NBN Operational working group is related to activities within other NBN Project working groups in the Communications Alliance. The general relationships can be seen in Figure 1.



Communications Alliance-NBN Reference Architecture-Release 1-January 2010

FIGURE 1

Communications Alliance NBN Project Working Group Structure

- 1.4.2 The NBN Operational working group is one of seven working groups established by the Communications Alliance to address industry requirements for the NBN. The other six working groups address the following:
- NBN Reference Model The NBN Reference Model Group has (a) developed a reference model that seeks to identify within the NBN framework:
 - (i) the roles and responsibilities of Service Providers;
 - (ii) key principles related to End Users;
 - (iii) key principles related to Services; and
 - (iv) key principles related to Interconnection of Networks.
- Wholesale Services The Wholesale Services working group has (b) developed high level service definitions relevant to the NBN that will be required in an NBN framework and supplied by NBN Co, FTTP greenfields carriers and other broadband access providers.
- (C) Early Stage Deployments - The Early Stage Deployments working group developed a definition of 'Greenfields' for Fibre To The Premises (FTTP) developments, plus information to guide stakeholders such as planning authorities, approvals bodies, premises owners and constructors that draws upon industry best practices.
- (d) End User Premises - The End User Premises working group has developed a set of high level NBN End-User Premises (EUP) installation practices and guidelines.

- (e) Technical The Technical working group has identified appropriate international standards (or domestic standards and codes if available) and their features which meet the characteristics required by the wholesale services, to demonstrate that the wholesale services can be implemented, and to facilitate the sourcing and configuration of network elements. The Group has also released an Optical Access discussion paper which attempts to provide an overview of a proposed optical access framework.
- (f) **End User Migration** The End User Migration working group has defined a 'migration' with respect to the NBN for the definition of processes for Acquire movement to, within and from the NBN.

1.5 Process Framework

The following elements of the Level 1 eTOM framework relating to Interaction Interfaces will be covered within this version of the Specification:

- the Fulfilment operations vertical process grouping;
- the Assurance operations vertical process grouping ; and

Strategy, Inf	frastructure & I	Product	Operations			
	Infrastructure Lifecycle Management	Product Lifecycle Management	Operation s Support & Readiness	Fulfillment	Assurance	Billing & Revenue Management
Marketing & (Offer Managemer	ıt	Customer Rela	ion ship Mana	gement	
Service Deve	II lopment & Manag	ll la l	Service Manag	ement & Opera	tions	
Resource De	ll velopment & Mar	agement	Resource Man	agement & Ope	Frations	
	n, Computing and	-		Computing and		
Supply Chair	n Development &	Management	Supp lier/Partn	er Relationship	Management	
][]				
Enterprise	Management					
Strategic 8 Planning	Enterprise	En terpri se Risk Man agement	Enterpri Manage	se Effectivenes ment	Knowledg Manageme	e & Research ant
	Financial & As Management		akeholder & Extern lations Manageme		an Resources gement	

• the Billing operations vertical process grouping.

Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010



2 ACRONYMS AND ALIGNMENT OF TERMS

2.1 Acronyms

Acronyms used in this Specification and their meanings are:

B2B

means Business to Business

BEF

means Billing Event File

CVC

means Connectivity Virtual Circuit

EBG

means Electronic Billing Group

EDIFACT

means Electronic Data Interchange for Administration, Commerce and Transport (http://www.unece.org/trade/untdid/directory.htm)

ETIS

means The global IT association for telecommunications (http://www.etis.org)

Ex GST

means Excluding GST. See GST.

GL

means General Ledger

GST

means Goods and Services Tax

KCI

means Keep Customer Informed

NICC

means Network Interoperability Consultative Committee

NTU

means Network Terminating Unit

ONT

means Optical Network Termination Unit

OLT

means Optical Line Termination Unit

QoS

means Quality of Service

SC

means Service Customer

SLA

means Service Level Agreement

SQ

means Service Qualification

UNI

means User Network Interface

2.2 Alignment of Terms

NICC Term	ITU-T Term	TM Forum Term	Comms Alliance	Also known as	Recommend- ation	Acronym	Term Definition	Definition Ref
Appointment Management	Appointment management	Workforce Management			Appointment Management		Consists of a set of functions that enable a mutual acceptable appointment time to be established between the Service Provider and the Service Consumer.	
Business to Business	Business to Business	Business to Business	Business to Business		Business to Business	B2B	Business to business	
Customer/ Buyer	Customer	Customer	End-User		Acquirer		A person who acquires goods and/or a service from a provider in exchange for payment or other consideration. Retail service providers are customers of wholesale service providers.	https://commswi ki.dgit.biz/index. php/Agreed_Ter m_Definitions
Communications Provider (CP)	Service Customer		Retail Service Provider	Service Provider Or Access Seeker/Retail Service Provider	Acquirer		A person or company who acquires goods and/or a service from a provider in exchange for payment or other consideration. End- users are customers of [retail] service providers, retail service providers are customers of wholesale service providers	https://commswi ki.dgit.biz/index. php/Agreed_Ter m_Definitions

COPYRIGHT

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

NICC Term	ITU-T Term	TM Forum Term	Comms Alliance	Also known as	Recommend- ation	Acronym	Term Definition	Definition Ref
Customer to Business	Customer to Business	Customer to Business	Customer to Business		Customer to Business	C2B	Customer to business	
eMarket					Marketplace		Standardised B2B interfaces that support interactions between Provider and Buyer	
End-User	Service User (SU)	Customer End-User	Customer		End-User	EU	This party is the actual user of the products or services offered by the enterprise. The end user consumes the product or service. They may or may not have a contractual relationship with the service provider.	
Fault	Fault	Fault			Fault		The inability of an item to perform a required function, excluding that inability due to preventive maintenance, lack of external resources or planned actions. Note that a fault is often the result of a failure of the item itself, but may exist without prior failure	(ITU-T Rec. M.20).
Lead to Cash	Service Fulfilment	Fulfilment			Fulfilment	L2C	All the activities that are needed to configure and activate service across B2B/C2B interface. It covers pre-	NICC

NICC Term	ITU-T Term	TM Forum Term	Comms Alliance	Also known as	Recommend- ation	Acronym	Term Definition	Definition Ref
							order management, order management, testing management, QoS/service level agreement management and appointment management	
Next Generation Network	Next Generation Network	Next Generation Network			National Broadband Network	NBN	Next Generation Network (NGN)	
Network Provider	Network Operator	Network Operator Or Network Provider	Network Service Provider		Network Service Provider	NSP	Service Provider providing End Users with connectivity to the public Internet and/or ASP/CSPs and is responsible for IP address allocation, authentication and QoS Management. In today's environment ISPs perform this role at both wholesale and retail levels. These service providers are simultaneously Carriage Service Providers.	
Service Provider	Service Provider	Service Provider(SP) Or Information and Communications	Service Provider		Service Provider	SP	A general reference to an entity that provides Telecommunication services to Customers and other users either on a tariff or contract	

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

NICC Term	ITU-T Term	TM Forum Term	Comms Alliance	Also known as	Recommend- ation	Acronym	Term Definition	Definition Ref
		Service Provider (ICSP)					basis. A Service Provider may or may not operate a network. A Service Provider may or may not be a Customer of another Service Provider.	
Provider		Provider			Provider		Provider is a company or organisation supplying a service. Provider may operate networks, or they may simply integrate the services of other providers in order to deliver a total service to their Acquirer.	
Trouble to Resolve	Service assurance	Assurance			Assurance		All the activities that are needed to monitor and maintain service quality across B2B/C2B interface. It covers trouble administration, testing management, QoS/service level agreement management and appointment management.	NICC
Problem Report	Trouble Report	Trouble	Trouble Ticket		Trouble Ticket		The perception of a fault or degradation that is judged to require maintenance	TMForum Glossary

3 INDUSTRY PARTICIPANTS' ROLES AND RELATIONSHIPS

The role and relationship(s) of each participant in the context of how they will interact within the process is defined as below:

Role	Definitions	Industry Participants
Provider	A Provider is a company or organisation supplying a service. A Provider may operate networks, or they may simply integrate the services of other providers, in order to deliver a total service to their Acquirer. A Provider is also known as a Service Provider, based on the ITU definitions, in the context of interactions via the interface.	Service Provider (e.g. NBN Co) Can be the Acquirer (Communication Provider) Network Provider Transport Provider
Acquirer	An Acquirer is a company or an organisation buying a service from the Provider and provides service/s to their End-User or other Communication Provider (CP).	Can be the Acquirer (Communication Provider) Can be an End-user Can be Service Provider



FIGURE 3 Industry Participants' relationship model

Example Scenario 1: The Communication Provider (CP) takes on the role of an Acquirer and interacts with NBN Co who has taken on the Provider role. NBN Co's role as the Provider is to present a collection of interaction processes which may be executed and controlled by the CP through either a B2B Gateway or a Web Portal.

Example Scenario 2: NBN Co takes on the role of an Acquirer and interacts with the Network Service Provider who has taken on the Provider's role. The Network Service Provider's role as the Provider is to present a collection of interaction processes which may be executed and controlled by the Acquirer through either a B2B Gateway or a Web

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

Example Scenario 3: FIGURE 4 illustrates general context with multiple Provider and Acquirers. Please note that an Acquirer can be both an Acquirer and a Provider.



Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010



4 MULTIPLE PROVIDERS AND ACQUIRERS CONTEXT INTERACTION PROCESS MODEL

FIGURE 5 illustrates the Industry Interaction Processes Model to support Acquirer delivery of their services to End-Users. The processes will be broken down into several levels:

- At the highest level, the process model will align with industry standards, such as eTOM and ITU-T. At this level the Acquirer owns and constructs some parts of the Fulfilment and Assurance processes through their interaction with their End-User.
- The next level, (Level 1 in FIGURE 5), interface processes are defined through industry consultation (via the Communications Alliance NBN Project). In this level sub-processes are executed and controlled by the Acquirer in support their first level processes.
- In the lower level(s), (Level 2/3 and 4 in FIGURE 5), sub-processes will be defined to support ITU Recommendations 3340 and NICC. These have been selected from industry frameworks and extensions, as defined by NBN Co and other Service Providers, with the output contributed back to the Industry bodies (such as ITU and TMF) for possible extension or refinement to their frameworks. By contributing to the Industry forum frameworks, it better positions the process models so developed to support the NBN Industry Interface, and exposes the operating model to the industry for wider re-use.



Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010

FIGURE 5 Industry Interaction Processes Model

5 FULFILMENT

5.1 Pre-Order Management

Pre-order Management consists of a set of functions across the B2B interface that enable the interaction before the Acquirer order be created. It comprises a number of transactions as identified in the sections below.

5.1.1 Service Qualifications

Before the Acquirer offers a service to an End-User, it is critical to first determine whether the desired service is available at the End-User's premises. The ability to operate consistent marketing campaigns and take orders with certainty of delivery is a key outcome of the service qualification process. The Acquirer must be able to perform varying levels of pre qualification checks before submitting an order. When an order is submitted, a detailed check is performed to determine whether the order is feasible before it is accepted for provisioning.

The Provider will provide two levels of Service Qualification:

- (i) **Pre-qualification** to identify whether Provider infrastructure currently exists in the End-User's premises, whether the premises can be served, and via which access technology. This qualification step is sufficient to identify whether there is the potential for the Acquirer to offer services to an End-User.
- (ii) **Full Service Qualification** once the specific attributes of the desired service (bandwidth, QoS, port configuration, etc) are known, the full service qualification can determine with certainty whether the service mix in question can be delivered.

The Acquirer will be able to submit a single site or multiple sites (batch) Service Qualification request.

5.1.2 High Level Interaction Process

FIGURE 6 illustrates the High Level Service Qualification interaction process.



Communications Alliance – NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements – Release 1 – December 2010

FIGURE 6 Service Qualification Process

SQ R001	Partial address search
As an	Acquirer
I want to	Search for my End-User address with partial information
so that	An End-User address can be validated.
Description	
This will allow	the Acquirer to enter in partial address information to identify possible addresses
that relate to	their End-Users location.
Scenarios	
Scenario: 1.	/alid partial address query
Given	The Acquirer is authenticated
When	The Acquirer provides valid partial address information
Then	The partial address information is validated
	And the possible addresses that match are returned
Data Input	Address details (dwelling number, street number, street name, suburb, postcode,
	state),
Data	Matched address details(dwelling number, street number, street name, suburb,
Output	postcode, state)
Scenario: 2. I	nvalid partial address query
Given	The Acquirer is authenticated
When	Acquirer provides invalid partial address information
Then	The partial address information is validated
	And no matches are returned
	And close match addresses are returned
Data Input	Address details (dwelling number, street number, street name, suburb, postcode,
	state),
Data	Closely matched address details(dwelling number, street number, street name,
Output	suburb, postcode, state).
Business Rule	<u>s</u>

ID	Description
NA	

As an Acquirer I want to Check service qualification for a single site, so that An Access Service availability can be determined if the Access Service can provisioned at a particular location. Description Acquirers will be able to input address and product details into the B2B Gateway to comma service qualification for the End-Users. Acquirers will be able to service qualify if an access service can be provisioned at a particular location.	an be							
so that An Access Service availability can be determined if the Access Service can provisioned at a particular location. Description Acquirers will be able to input address and product details into the B2B Gateway to comma service qualification for the End-Users. Acquirers will be able to service qualify if an access service can be provisioned at a particular location.	an be							
provisioned at a particular location. Description Acquirers will be able to input address and product details into the B2B Gateway to comm a service qualification for the End-Users. Acquirers will be able to service qualify if an access service can be provisioned at a particu	anne							
Description Acquirers will be able to input address and product details into the B2B Gateway to comm a service qualification for the End-Users. Acquirers will be able to service qualify if an access service can be provisioned at a particu								
a service qualification for the End-Users. Acquirers will be able to service qualify if an access service can be provisioned at a particu								
Acquirers will be able to service qualify if an access service can be provisioned at a particu	ence							
location.	Jiar							
The following possible response for service qualification are:								
 Servicable where service currently exists – service is available to deliver to the end- premises. 	user							
 Service exists in the future – service is not available at the end-user premises, hower planned date (home pass date) is known. 	ver, a							
 No service exists - service is not available at the end-user premises. 								
Scenarios								
Scenario: 1. Servicability request for a single site where service currently exists								
Given Acquirer is authenticated And the Acquirer has identified their End-User address								
When Acquirer provides a valid address and product details for a single site								
Then The address and product details are validated								
And the details are validated against business rules to determine Access Serv availability	/ice							
And the service parameters available at the location are returned as an indi	vidual							
line item								
And the service request is logged								
Data Input Data Output								
1. End-User premises address; or 1. Provider's SQ ID								
Address 2. Acquirer's SQ ID Start at								
Street Suburb Suburb								
Suburb End-User premises serviceable:								
Postcode or 1. Yes, ONT is present Active or Sector 2 Yes, ONT peods to be install	od							
 Lat / Long or GNAF ID or 2. Yes, ONT needs to be install 3. No, never 	eu							
GNAF ID or SAP ID SA								
SAP ID 4. NO, but some time in tutule A. NO, but specific date in future S. No, but specific date in future	Ire							
 a. Product details (optional); and b. No, but specific date in futtors c. No, but specific date in futtors c. No, but specific date in futtors c. No, but specific date in futtors 								
4. Acquirer SQ Identifier. ID/Appointment Type / Planned [
Note: FNN or CSN based Service Internal/external ONT – indication								
Qualification request from Acquirer to Are there free ports on the ONI	Sing							
Provider (NBN CO) is considered out of	Date)							
and on which UNIs								
Associated POI (Y with NNI Port /								

	 Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated OLT (Y with OLT ID / N / Planned Date) What is the available bandwidth to the ONT Build Notes e.g. Product / Service / Resource parameters or complex build Premises type (e.g. MDU, standalone unit etc.) Network technology (Fibre, Wireless, Satellite) Service access type & Lat / Long i.e. traffic lights
Scenario: 2. Servicability request for a single	
GivenAcquirer is authenticated And the Acquirer has identifiedWhenAcquirer provides a valid addree ThenThe address and product detail And the details are validated a availability	their End-Users address ess and product details for a single site s are validated gainst business rules to determine Access Service ailable at the location are returned as an individual
Data Input	Data Output
 End-User premises address; or Address Street Suburb Postcode or Lat / Long or GNAF Id or SAP ID NTU ID (if known); and Product details (optional); and Acquirer SQ Identifier. Note: FNN or CSN based Service Qualification request from Acquirer to Provider (NBN Co) is considered out of scope	 Provider's SQ ID Acquirer's SQ ID Per SAP Id with the following details: End-User premises serviceable (Y/N) Yes, ONT is present Yes, ONT needs to be installed No, never No, but some time in future No, but specific date in future Active NTU/ONT (Y with NTU ID/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Internal/external ONT - indication only Are there free ports on the ONT (Y/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Are there free ports on the ONT (Y/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated POI (Y with NNI Port / Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated OLT (Y with OLT ID / N / Planned Date) What is the available bandwidth to the ONT Build Notes e.g. Product / Service / Resource parameters or complex build Premises type (e.g. MDU, standalone unit etc.)

DECEMBER 2010

		traffic lights
Given When Then Data Input 1. End-U • At • St • St • St • C • La • G • SA 2. NTU IE 3. Produ 4. Acqui Note: FNN Qualificati	The address and product deta And the details are validated a availability And a response is returned ind And the service request is logg	le site where no service exists ed their End-User's address Iress and product details for a single site ails are validated against business rules to determine Access Service dicating that there is no service available
		traffic lights Request
iusiness Ru ID	Description	
L2C.1_R1	With respect to service qualific detail with which the Acquirer example, the Acquirer may er specific level number or unit n indicate the serviceability of th	cations, the system will respond with the same level of r service qualification input data was provided. For enquire on the serviceability to an MDU location with no number. The service qualification response would the MDU building location and not the serviceability of uilding or the specific office units on each floor.
L2C.1_R2		e SAP's found, will require to send the same query with

SQ R 003	Batch qualification
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Submit a batch qualification An Access Service availability can indicate whether the Access Service can be provisioned at a location via a batch request or alternatively to validate given address information.

Acquirers will be able to input address and product details to commence a service qualification for the End-Users.

Acquirers will be able to service qualify if an access service can be provisioned at a particular location.

The following possible response for service qualification are:

- Servicable where service currently exists service is available to deliver to the end-user premises
- Service exists in the future service is not available at the end-user premises, however, a planned date (home pass date) is known.
- No service exists service is not available at the end-user premises

Batch request to additionally support entry of partial address information to identify possible addresses that relate to their End-Users location.

Note that multiple addresses are submitted as part of the batch request for validation or qualification purposes. Provider would decompose the batch request into individual line items, process individual items and send return response. If an exception occured due to which batch request could not progress, this will be notified to the Acquirer.

Scen	arios		
Scen	<u>ario: 1 (Type – SQ). Valid servicability re</u>	quest on	multiple sites where service currently exists
Giv			
Whe			•
The	1		ch are validated me that this request will be completed
	•		ess rules to determine Access Service
	availability for each site		
		ble at ea	ach site are returned as individual line items
	And the service request is logged		
Dat	a Input	Data C	utout
1.	End-User premises address; or	1	Provider's SO ID
1.	Address		
		2.	Acquirer's SQ ID
	• Street	3.	Notifying the Acquirer that the batch has
	• Suburb		been received including but not limited to
	Postcode or		with the following:
	Lat / Long or		 Targeted delivery timeframe
	GNAF ID or		 Number valid address to perform
	SAP ID		Service Feasibility check
2.	NTU ID (if known); and		Number invalid address
3.	Product details (optional); and	4.	Service qualification result per line item
4.	Acquirer SQ Identifier;		with the following details:
		5.	Per SAP ID with the following details:

Note: FNN or CSN based Service Qualification request from Acquirer to Provider (NBN Co) is considered out of scope	 End-User premises serviceable (Y/N) Yes, ONT is present Yes, ONT needs to be installed No, never No, but some time in future No, but specific date in future Active NTU/ONT (Y with NTU ID/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Internal/external ONT - indication only Are there free ports on the ONT (Y/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Are there free ports on the ONT (Y/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated POI (Y with NNI Port / Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated OLT (Y with OLT ID / N / Planned Date) What is the available bandwidth to the ONT Build Notes e.g. Product / Service / Resource parameters or complex build Premises type (e.g. MDU, standalone unit etc.) Network technology (Fibre, Wireless, Satellite) Service access type & Lat / Long i.e. traffic lights
futureGivenThe Acquirer is authenticatedWhenThe Acquirer provides valid addressThenThe address and product details in tAnd the Acquirer is informed of the tAnd the details are validated againavailability for each site	and product details for multiple sites he batch are validated time frame that this request will be completed st business rules to determine Access Service
Data Innut	Data Output
Data Input 1. End-User premises address; or • Address • Street • Suburb • Postcode or • Lat / Long or • GNAF ID or • SAP ID	 Data Output Provider's SQ ID Acquirer's SQ ID Notifying the Acquirer that the batch has been received including but not limited to with the following: Targeted delivery timeframe Number valid address to perform Service Feasibility check
 NTU ID (if known); and Product details (optional); and Acquirer SQ Identifier. <u>Note:</u> FNN or CSN based Service Qualification request from Acquirer to Provider (NBN Co) is considered out of scope 	 Number invalid address Per SAP ID with the following details: End-User premises serviceable (Y/N) Yes, ONT is present Yes, ONT needs to be installed No, never No, but some time in future

one site Given The Acquirer is authenticated	 5. No, but specific date in future Active NTU/ONT (Y with NTU ID/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Internal/external ONT – indication only Are there free ports on the ONT (Y/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated POI (Y with NNI Port / Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated OLT (Y with OLT ID / N / Planned Date) What is the available bandwidth to the ONT Build Notes e.g. Product / Service / Resource parameters or complex build Network technology (Fibre, Wireless, Satellite) Service access type & Lat / Long i.e. traffic lights
And the details are validated ag	gainst business rules to determine Access Service
availability And a response is returned indic site	ating that there is no service available for a particular
And a response is returned indic	ating that there is no service available for a particular Data Output

ir		
Given The Ac And th When The Ac addre Then The ac And th And th	cquirer is authenticated ne Acquirer has identified their cquirer provides a valid addre ss information that requires to	ess and/or product details or provides (partial) be validated e validated or address details are validated lest limit is checked
Data Input		Data Output
Ac Str Su Pc La GI 2. NTU ID (if knc 3. Product deta 4. Acquirer SQ	ails (optional); and Identifier.	Exception message notifying the Acquirer that they have exceeded their Service Qualification transaction limit
	<u>e – SQ/ Address query). Partia</u>	
Then The ac And sc And pl And th And th availal And th	Idress and product details in t ome pass validation ace passes item into the Batc e Acquirer is informed of the t e details are validated agains bility for each site	
Data Input		Data Output
1. End-User p • Ac • Str • Su	oremises address; or ddress eet burb ostcode or	 Provider's SQ ID Acquirer 's SQ ID Notifying the Acquirer that the batch has been received including but not limited to with the following:

• 2. NTU ID (if k	etails (optional); and 4 Per SAP ID with the following details:
	Satellite)Service access type & Lat / Long i.e.
	traffic lights
	<u>ype – Addresses query). Valid partial address query</u>
Given	The Acquirer is authenticated
When Then	The Acquirer provides valid partial address information The partial address information is validated
	And the possible addresses that match are returned
Data Input	Address details (dwelling number, street number, street name, suburb, postcode, state),
Data Output	Matched address details(dwelling number, street number, street name, suburb, postcode, state)
Scenario: 7 (T	<u>ype – Addresses query). Invalid partial address query</u>
Given	The Acquirer is authenticated
When	Acquirer provides invalid partial address information
Then	The partial address information is validated
	And no matches are returned And close match addresses are returned
Data Input	Address details (dwelling number, street number, street name, suburb, postcode,
Det	state)
Data	Close matched address details(dwelling number, street number, street name,
Output	suburb, postcode, state).
Business Rules	
ID	Description

SQ R003-R1	There will be a limit to the maximum number of matched address results
	that can be sent in the response

SQ R004	Upload a file for multi site	service qualification
As an I want to	Acquirer Upload a file for multi site serv	vice qualification
so that	An Access Service availability	y can be determined whether the Access Service
Description		tion via a multiple sites batch request
		nput address and product details into the Portal
toolsets to a		n for their End-Users with acceptable file formats,
location. Ba		access service can be provisioned at a particular ort entry of partial address information to identify ers location.
decompos response. If	e the batch request into individua	as part of the batch request. Provider is required to al line items, process individual items and send return hich the batch request could not progress, this will be
Scenario		
Then TI A A a A	he address and product details in And the Acquirer is informed of the And the details are validated aga availability for each site	ss and product details for multiple sites a the batch are validated e time frame that this request will be completed inst business rules to determine Access Service able at each site are returned as individual line items
Data Inpu	<u>t</u>	Data Output
• • • 2. N' 3. Pr 4. A	nd-User premises address; or Address Street Suburb Postcode or Lat / Long or GNAF ID or SAP ID TU ID (if known); and roduct details (optional); and cquirer SQ Identifier; and atch ID (optional)	 Confirmation message with Batch ID and approximately timeframe to complete the batch request. 1. SQ ID 2. Batch ID (optional) 3. Notifying the Acquirer that the batch has been received including but not limited to with the following: Targeted delivery timeframe Number valid address to perform Service Feasibility check Number invalid address 4. Per SAP ID with the following details: End-User premises serviceable (Y/N) Yes, ONT is present Yes, ONT needs to be installed No, never No, but specific date in future Active NTU/ONT (Y with NTU ID/Appointment Type / Planned Date)

	 Internal/external ONT - indication only Are there free ports on the ONT(Y/Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated POI (Y with NNI Port / Appointment Type / Planned Date) Associated OLT (Y with OLT ID / N / Planned Date) What is the available bandwidth to the ONT Build Notes e.g. Product / Service / Resource parameters or complex build Premises type (e.g. MDU, standalone unit etc.) Network technology (Fibre, Wireless, Satellite) Service access type & Lat / Long i.e. traffic lights
Scenario: 2. Invalid batch file uploadedGivenThe Acquirer is authenticatedWhenThe Acquirer provides an invaThenThe batch file is validatedAnd the Acquirer is informed	alid batch file
Data Input	Data Output
 End-User premises address; or Address Street Suburb Postcode or Lat / Long or GNAF ID or SAP ID NTU ID (if known); and Product details (optional); and Acquirer SQ Identifier. 	Exception message notifying Acquirer that batch file was unsuccessful
Business Rules	
IDDescriptionSQ R004-R1The Acquirer can only submit a Portal	xxx number of line items within a batch via the
SQ R005 Notify batch service qualific	ation status
As aProviderI want toNotify Acquirer status of a batcso thatAcquirer can have a view on th	h serviceability request ne status of a batch service qualitifcation
Description	
This story is particularly relevant to asynchronic Acquirer will not receive the service qualificat Provider will proactively communicate the ba Scenarios	ion in real time (as per the single site enquiry case),
Scenario: 1. Notify batch request received	
Given The Acquirer successfully submitted	a batch service qualification

	delivery service qualification resu And the SLA clock starts	ılt SLA.
Data Ir	put	Data Output
1. Er 2. NTU 3. Prod 4. Acq Scenario	nd-User premises address; or Address Street Suburb Postcode or Lat / Long or GNAF ID or SAP ID ID (if known); and uct details (optional); and uirer SQ Identifier. 2. Notify SLA Jeopardy	Acknowledged notification sent to Acquirer with expected delivery SLA
Given		ed a batch service qualification
Given When Then	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the be Provider cannot delivery batch s	
When Then <u>Data Ir</u>	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar Provider cannot delivery batch s Provider sends a notification to th	atch serviceability request ervice qualification results within the defined SLA ne Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA. Data Output
When Then Data Ir	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the ba Provider cannot delivery batch s Provider sends a notification to th	atch serviceability request ervice qualification results within the defined SLA ne Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA.
When Then Data Ir Provide	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar Provider cannot delivery batch s Provider sends a notification to the provider senvice qualificat The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar The Provider completed services The Provider sends a complete n	atch serviceability request ervice qualification results within the defined SLA ne Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA. Data Output Notification sends to the Acquirer with reason(s) fo not meeting the SLA. ion completed ted a batch service qualification atch serviceability request
When Then Data Ir Provide Given Given When Then	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar Provider cannot delivery batch s Provider sends a notification to the provider sends a complete notice the Provider sends a complete notice results.	atch serviceability request ervice qualification results within the defined SLA ne Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA. Data Output Notification sends to the Acquirer with reason(s) fo not meeting the SLA. ion completed ted a batch service qualification atch serviceability request ability checks otification to the Acquirer with service qualification
When Then Data Ir Provide Given When Then Data Ir	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar Provider cannot delivery batch s Provider sends a notification to the provider sends a complete notice the Provider sends a complete notice results.	atch serviceability request ervice qualification results within the defined SLA ne Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA. Data Output Notification sends to the Acquirer with reason(s) fo not meeting the SLA. ion completed ted a batch service qualification atch serviceability request ability checks
When Then Data Ir Provide Given When Then Data Ir	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar Provider cannot delivery batch s Provider sends a notification to the put er Service qualification ID 2: 2. Notify batch service qualificat The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar The Provider completed services The Provider sends a complete n results.	atch serviceability request ervice qualification results within the defined SLA ne Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA. Data Output Notification sends to the Acquirer with reason(s) fo not meeting the SLA. ion completed ted a batch service qualification atch serviceability request ability checks otification to the Acquirer with service qualification Data Output Completed notification sent to the Acquirer
When Then Data Ir Provide Given Given When Then Data Ir Provide	The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar Provider cannot delivery batch s Provider sends a notification to the put er Service qualification ID 2: 2. Notify batch service qualificat The Acquirer successfully submitt And Provider has received the bar The Provider completed services The Provider sends a complete n results.	atch serviceability request ervice qualification results within the defined SLA ne Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA. Data Output Notification sends to the Acquirer with reason(s) for not meeting the SLA. ion completed ted a batch service qualification atch serviceability request ability checks otification to the Acquirer with service qualification Data Output Completed notification sent to the Acquirer

SQ R006	Request Batch Cancellation		
As an	Acquirer		
I want to	cancel a batch request for multip	le sites qualification,	
so that	My requests can be managed		
Description			
Acquirer can su	ubmit a cancellation request for a k	patch (multiple sites) that is either already	
sumitted to and	l/or being processed by the Provide	er's systems	
Scenarios			
Scenario: 1. Suc	cessful submit cancellation request,	processing not yet started	
Given	That the batch file is yet to be processed (i.e. Still queued)		
When	The Acquirer provides a cancellation	on request that includes a valid batch ID	
Then	Cancel the batch file in the batch	scheduler	
	And notify the Acquirer of successf	ul cancellation	
Data Input		Data Output	
Provider's SQ I	D	Successful cancelled notification	
Scenario: 2. Suc	ccessfully submit cancellation reque	est, processing already started	
	That the batch file is currently being		

Then	The Acquirer provides a cancellation request that includes a valid batch ID Stop the batch processing And cancel batch, return processed results And notify Acquirer of successful cancellation with Service Qualification results for all sites that have been processed		
Data Input		Data Output	
Provider's SQ I	ID Successful cancelled notification with Service Qualification results for all sites that have been processed		
Scenario: 3. Uns	sucessful submit cancellation reque	est	
Given	That the batch file is currently being processed		
When	The Acquirer provides a cancellation request that includes a invalid batch ID		
Then	Notify Acquirer that batch ID provinequest.	ded is unknown and unable to cancel this	
Data Input	Data Output		
Provider's SQ I	Provider's SQ ID Fail Notification		
Business Rules			
ID	Description		
N/A			

SQ R007	Address resolution		
As an	Acquirer		
I want to	Submit a request to resolve an address issue		
so that	An End-User address can be validated and be submitted to determine for		
	qualification and/ordering purposes		
Description			
This will allow the	Acquirer to submit a request to resolve an end user address issue. Request		
	details for which they cannot obtain a match. It can be used in scenarios where		
	ot validate the end user address or was determined to be unserviceable.		
Note: Commercial Cl	harges may apply to resolve address issues.		
Scenarios			
Scenario: 1. Addr	ess could not be found or located by Provider. Submit request to resolve issue		
Given	The Acquirer is authenticated		
When	The Acquirer submits request that contains address information to be resolved		
Then	Provider processes the request and keeps Acquirier informed of progress		
And upon completion sends the resolution result			
Data Input	Data InputAddress details (dwelling number, street number, street name, suburb,		
	postcode, state), comments etc		
Data Output	Completed notification with resolution details related to address		
Business Rules			
ID	Description		
N/A			

5.2 Order Management

Products that are requested through the B2B Gateway will be driven by the Product Catalogue definitions. The Product Catalogue definition is where the business rules, attribute valid values and the associations of these products with the Provider internal processes are defined. The product definition will drive the data collection process stages to provision and assure the service.

Acquirer will have the ability to request the following order types through the B2B Gateway:

- Connect New Service
- Modify Existing Service
- Disconnect a Service
- Amend an In-flight Order
- Cancel an In-flight Order

Order management consists of a set of functions across B2B interface that enable an Acquirer order to be created, reported, tracked, and maintained. It comprises a number of transactions as identified in the sections below.

5.2.1 High Level Interaction Process

FIGURE 7 illustrates high level transaction process for Order Management to support Fulfilment processes in a successful scenario.



Communications Alliance – NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements – Release 1 – December 2010

FIGURE 7 High Level Order Management Transaction process

5.2.2 New Connection Order

FUL R001	Non-standa	rd Quote Order		
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Obtain a quotation for the non-standard product/s I am enquiring about It can be determined whether the product(s) requested by the Provider can or cannot be fulfilled. Following this the full price of the product(s) and delivery costs can be obtained			
Description				
a cost, indic approved r	Acquirer asks for a quote which confirms whether the request can be accommodated, provides a cost, indicative timeframes and any delivery of hardware information. The quote will include an approved network design, operational support model and billing method for the request. The Acquirer decides whether to accept the quote and progress to an order or not.			
quote neec		er is seeking a quotation for Non-Standard orders. The in the catalogue against an Acquirer or channel that		
Scenarios				
Scenario 1.	Non-standard Quote Order			
Given	The Acquirer has been authentic Quote order.	ated and is authorised to request a Non-standard		
Order deta	The quotation request details (ac are validated And acknowledged back to the received And the Acquirer is informed of			
Sconario 2 I	Insucessful Request Quotation - f	for Non-standard order		
Scenario 2.Unsucessful Request Quotation - for Non-standard orderGivenThe Acquirer has been authenticatedWhenAcquirer is not authorized to request non-standard order quotes. OR the order has been rejected from Order Feasibility CheckThenProvider notifies quotation request failure message with reason(s)				
1. Order of				
Business Rul	es			
ID	Description			
N/A				

FUL R002	New Connect Order	
As an	Acquirer	
I want to	Raise an order for a new Product order.	
so that	The Provider delivers my Product order as required and Produ	uctcan be
NBN B2B INTE RELEASE 1	RACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION	COPYRIGHT

_	provided to an End-User.	
order w	quirer is placing an order as part of the ill be for one or more product-instanc es may be grouped together so that t	eir brief to provide a product to their End-User. The es delivered to a single location. Multiple product- hey are either all delivered or all not delivered to
Possible •	scenarios for connect a new order: New instances of a product to be de	elivered to the End-User premises
•	product to their End-User. The Acquir providing the product on Provider's r happen outside of this story.	nsfer order as one of their activities to provide a rer is operating as the 'Gaining Acquirer ' and is network to an already utilised port. Any LNP activities
	over' an existing utilised UNI.	g Acquirer is utilising the NBN network and is 'taking
•		nigration order to move End-User service on to NBN arios for migration: "Push" and "Pull", however in both by the Acquirer.
	(i)Pull is where an End-User generates submits request to the Provider.	s activity through the Acquirer, the Acquirer then
	(ii)Push is where Provider provides ser connection/migration at the conven	vice availability in all locations for future ience of the End-User.
•	Acquirer will have the ability to raise a Acquirer <i>Required Date and Time</i> .	a forecast for New Connect by providing the
Scenari	os	
<u>Scenari</u> Given When	order type (new)etc) And the product requested is sup And the data sets are valid	ated and authorized to order ils (Acquirer Account ID, product details, address,
Then	The data set is validated against for suspension And an order is created	the business rules including validate billing account Acquirer that the order has been received (pending
Data Ir	nput	Data Output
Includi 1. Or 2. cus ac de	ng but not limited to the following: der details, stom location (which may include dress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, escription of required location on operty), UNI Id (optional)),	 Send order Acknolwedged to Acquirer with order details, including but not limited to: 1. Order id, 2. Acquirer Account ID, 3. Billing Account ID, and 4. Order status
4. pro 5. Ac 6. Billi 7. Ac (o tin	educt component(s) (optional), quirer's Account ID, ng Account ID, quirer Required Date & time ptional, default to standard lead ne),	
	d-User requested service location, d-User requested ONT location (or	

	equivalent to satellite, wireless),				
	Jser contact details,				
	ontact details,				
	pecific information (e.g. security,				
heal	th and safety requirements).				
	wing additional details need to				
	ded for a Transfer order:				
	Service transfer from/to				
	End user to provide account				
r	number to gaining carrier				
Scenario 2	2. Proceed a Quote to order				
Given	The Acquirer has been authentic	ated			
		tation for a product-instance and wishes to proceed			
	to service delivery				
When	The Acquirer provides a valid Qu	ote order ID that links to an approved network			
	design, operational support mod				
		latory/conditional data which is additional to that			
	already submitted for the quote	-			
Then		the business rules including validate billing account			
	for suspension	5 5			
	And an order is created				
	And acknowledges back to the	Acquirer that the order has been received with			
	order reference is being returned	by the Provider			
	And the SLA clock will start on re	ceipt of a valid order			
	And will follow the order validation	on process			
Data Inp	<u>ut</u>	Data Output			
Including	g but not limited to the following:	Acknowledgement to the Acquirer of the:			
	y but not limited to the following: om location (which may include	Acknowledgement to the Acquirer of the:			
1. custo		Acknowledgement to the Acquirer of the: 1. Order id,			
1. custo addr	om location (which may include				
1. custo addr desc	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long,	1. Order id,			
1. custo addr desc	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, ription of required location on perty), UNI Id (optional)),	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, 			
 custo addr desc prop SAP II 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, ription of required location on perty), UNI Id (optional)),	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 Custo addr desc prop SAP II produ 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, ription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II prodution prodution 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional),	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produt Acqui Billing 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on erty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produt Acqui Billing Acqui 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, inption of required location on perty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produt Acqui Billing Acqui copti time 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on perty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produt Acqui Billing Acqui copti time 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, iription of required location on eerty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produting Billing Acquition Billing Acquition Billing Acquition Billing End-L 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produting produting Acquition Billing Acquition Acquition Billing Acquition Billing Acquition End-L End-L equition 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless),	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II prodution SAP II prodution Acquition Billing Acquition Acquition Acquition End-L End-L equition End-L 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on perty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Iser requested service location, Iser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II prodution SAP II prodution Acquition Billing Acquition Billing Acquition Cost and the second seco	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 Custa addr desc prop SAP II produting Broduting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting End-L End-L End-L End-L End-L Site c Site s 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details, pecific information (e.g. security,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 Custa addr desc prop SAP II produting Broduting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting End-L End-L End-L End-L End-L Site c Site s 	om location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 Custa addr desc prop SAP II produting Broduting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting End-L End-L End-L End-L End-L Site c Site s 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details, pecific information (e.g. security,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 Custa addr desc prop SAP II produting Broduting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting End-L End-L End-L End-L End-L Site c Site s 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details, pecific information (e.g. security,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 Custa addr desc prop SAP II produting Broduting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting Acquiting End-L End-L End-L End-L End-L Site c Site s 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details, pecific information (e.g. security,	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 Custa addr desc prop SAP II produting Acquisting Acquisting Acquisting Acquisting Acquisting Acquisting End-L End-L End-L End-L End-L Site c Site s 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested Service location, Jser requested Service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details, pecific information (e.g. security, th and safety requirements).	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produt produt Acqu Billing Acqu (optiting) End-L End-L equities Site c Site spheat 	bm location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, Jser requested Service location, Jser requested Service location, Jser requested ONT location (or valent to satellite, wireless), User contact details, ontact details, pecific information (e.g. security, th and safety requirements).	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and 			
 custa addr desc prop SAP II produ produ Acqu (opti time) End-U End-U End-U Site c Site sp heal 	be location (which may include ress, GNAF ID or lat/ long, cription of required location on verty), UNI Id (optional)), D, uct component(s) (optional), irer's Account ID, Account ID, irer Required Date & time) onal, default to standard lead), quote order id, User requested service location, User requested Service location, User contact details, ontact details, ontact details, becific information (e.g. security, th and safety requirements).	 Order id, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID, and Order status 			

FUL R003	Place a batch order
As an	Acquirer
I want to	Place a batch order for new instances of a product, or to modify or disconnect existing products.

so that I can submit new, change, c	churn or cancel products for multiple End-Users.			
Description				
	age multiple products in the one requests. There			
The Acquirer is placing a batch order to change multiple products in the one requests. There may be multiple End-Users and/or multiple locations.				
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Valid batch order data set where				
Given The Acquirer has been authentic				
When There are multiple requests in the				
Then 1. The batch order data set is validated as the set of	ne Acquirer that the order has been received with			
	us an estimated completion date)			
	nto component orders (End-User/one location per			
line items)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
4. And SLA clock will start on rece	eipt of a valid batch order			
Data Input	Data Output			
Including but not limited to the following:	1. Send order Acknolwedged notification			
1. End-User location (which may include	2. Batch Order ID			
address, GNAF ID or lat/ long,				
description of required location on property), UNI ID (optional)),				
2. SAP ID,				
 3. product component(s) (optional), 				
4. Acquirer's Account ID,				
5. Billing Account ID,				
6. Acquirer Required Date & time				
(optional, default to standard lead				
time), 7 End-User requested service location				
 End-User requested service location, End-User requested NTU location (or 				
equivalent to satellite, wireless),				
9. End-User contact details,				
10. Site contact details,				
11. Site specific information (e.g. security,				
health and safety requirements).				
12. End-User Authentication date (EUAD)				
	<u> </u>]			
Scenario 2. Invalid order data set	atad and authorized to and			
Given The Acquirer has been authentic When The XML is validated	ared and authorized to order			
When The XML is validated And the data set is incomplete o	rinvalid			
Then 1. A reject order notification is be				
2. And the rejected order is logge				
3. And the SLA clock will not start				
Data Input Data Output				
Including but not limited to the following:	Send an error message			
1. End-User location (which may include				
address, GNAF ID or lat/ long, description of required location on				
property), UNI ID (optional)),				
2. SAP ID,				
3. product component(s) (optional),				
4. Acquirer 's Account ID,				
5. Billing Account ID,				
6. Acquirer Required Date & time				
(optional, default to standard lead				
time), 7 End-User requested service location				
 7. End-User requested service location, 8. End-User requested NTU location (or 				
equivalent to satellite, wireless),				
	<u> </u>			

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

 End-User contact de 10. Site contact details, Site specific informa health and safety re End-User Authentica 	tion (e.g. security, quirements).	
Business Rules	Jusiness Rules	
ID	Description	
N/A		

5.2.2.1 Cancel an In-flight Order

FUL R004		C	Cancel an in-flight order		
As an	Acquirer				
I want to	Be able to cancel an in-flight order,				
so that	The prod	uct is not delivere	ed to the End-User.		
Description					
completed	provisioning. 1	he point at which	ncellation request to cancel an order that has not there is a billing implication will depend on the		
	es and may di	ffer from product	to product.		
Scenarios					
		quest cancel an i			
Given			eted (according to the product catalogue rules		
	defining com				
When		er has identified t	nat the order need to be cancelled or as requestd		
	by End-User				
T I:	217 110 411 010	ler identifier exists			
Then			ainst the business rules associated with minimum on (cross-dependencies of the products within an		
			tion are not breached)		
			cquirer that the cancel in-flight order has been		
	received	medges to the A	equirer that the cancern hight order has been		
Data Inpu					
Including but not limited to the following:		to the following:	1. Send order Acknolwedged notification to		
1. Order ID.		to the renorming.	Acquirer		
2. Canc					
Business Ru	Business Rules				
ID		Description			
N/A		•			
μ					

5.2.2.2 Amend an In-flight Order

FUL R005	Amend an in-flight order
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Be able to amend an in-flight order, The end product/s to be provided to the End-User at the same location can be amended.
Description	
completed pro 'correction' or a and may differ order. If change	placing an in-flight order modification request to change an order that has not visioning up to the point of no return in the provisioning workflow. This may be a a change to a product attributes - what is allowed will depend on the product rules from product to product. For example, location cannot be modified for an in-flight es to a location is required than the current order need to be cancelled (charges d depend on what stage the order is at).

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Successful request an amend in-flight order				
Given	The order has not been completed			
	And has not passed the Point of No Return (PoNR) in the provisioning workflow			
	And there is no change requested to the End-User location			
	And order ID exists			
When	1. The Acquirer has identified th	e order need to be amended or requestd by the		
	End-User			
	2. And provides an amended o	rder request details (order identifier exists, the change		
	is clearly identified by naming t	ne product to remove and/or the product to add)		
Then	1. The data set is validated aga	inst the point of no return business rules noted in the		
	Product Catalogue.			
	2. And ackloweldged to the Ac	quirer that the order change has been received and		
	has changed status			
Data Inpu	<u>it</u>	Data Output		
Including	but not limited to the following:	Send an Acknolwedged notification to the		
1. Orde		Acquirer		
2. Orde	r change details,			
3. Acqu	uirer Account ID,			
4. Billing	Account ID			
Scenario 2	. Failed request an amend in-fligh	nt order		
Given	The order has not been comple			
	And order ID exists			
When	The Acquirer has identified an in	n-flight order need to be modified or requested by		
		ed an in-flight order request details including but not		
	limited to order identifier exists,	the change is clearly identified by naming the		
	product to remove and/or the	product to add.		
Then	The data set is validated agains	st the business rules and Point of No Return has been		
	breached			
	And a reject order notification is being sent to the Acquirer with reason(s)			
	And the rejected order is logged with all the reject reasons			
Data Input		Data Output		
Including but not limited to the following:		1. Send a Rejected notification to the Acquirer		
1. Order ID,		with reason code(s)		
2. Orde	r changes details (eg product)	2. Place in rejected orders log		
Business Rules				
ID	Description			
N/A	Description			
14/71	I			

5.2.2.3 Order Tracking

FUL R006	Query/Enquire Status or details of an order			
As an	Acquirer			
I want to	Request the Provider to advise me of progress on the fulfilment activities or			
	details of an order that I requested			
so that	An order status or progress of an order can be provided to the End-User			
Description				
Acquirers shall	be able to track the End-User order by initiating a request to retrieve an order			
state/status at	any time.			
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Qu	ery/Enquire the status or details of an order			
Given Ac	quirer is authenticated			
When Ac	uirer provided valid order details eg			
ID				
Then The	e order request details are validated			
An	d the status of the order is returned			
Data Input	Data Output			
NBN B2B INTER	RACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION COPYRIGHT			
RELEASE 1				

Including but not limited to the following: 1. Order ID, 2. Batch ID (optional)		1. C	r details, including but not limited to: Current order stage Drder status
Business Rules			
ID Description			
N/A			

FUL R007	Keep Customer (Acquire	r) Informed (KCI)		
As a	Provider			
I want to	Update the Acquirer on the pro completion of service configura			
so that The Acquirer is kept informed of the fulfilment progress.				
Description				
		by the order decomposition to be tracked and a d back to the Acquirer (and to Billing).		
	ler has been decomposed into a cks the various sub-order provisio	a series of Sub-Orders that are being provisioned. oning completions.		
	er will notify Acquirers on state/sta Fulfilment processes.	atus updates as order progresses through the		
Scenarios				
	otify Status Update			
Given	8	uration and activation has completed		
	And the level of KCIs for an Aco			
When	the Acquirer	and/or order causes a notification to be sent to		
Then Data Input Including bu 1. Order ID	Process Orchestration Engine communicates all steps in the fulfilment process including but not limited to successful completion of an order, Jeopardy notification, status update notification, order acceptance etc And creates the required communication to the Acquirer, And sends the appropriate communication from time to time to the Acquirer and to other agreed parties (Partner/other Provider/End-user etc.), And the Acquirer may inform the End-user about the status of the resolution Optional Could be expanded to include sending of regular communication at (configurable) timed intervals upon the Acquirer's request. Input Data Output ding but not limited to the following: 1.Updated Order Status			
	t milestone	notify order Acknowledgement, notify order acceptance) and relevant order details based on the milestones/order stages.		
	otify Order Acknowledgement			
When Then		n Fulfilment system t to Acquirer with order reference is being returned		
Data Input		Data Output		
 Including but not limited to the following: Order details, Acquirer Account ID, Billing Account ID 		Send order Acknowledged notification with Order ID		
Scenario 3. No	otify Order Accepted			
Given	Order details are valid			

When	Order feasibility has been che	ecked and is successful	
Then Fulfilment system updates the order status to "Accepted"			
mon		notification to the Acquirer that the order has been	
		viceability and order class with Provider Committed	
	Date (NCD) for activation.		
Data Input		Data Output	
Order details	, including but not limited to:	1. Send Order Accepted Notification to the	
1. Service a	-	Acquirer, including but not limited to:	
	Order ID,	1. Order ID,	
Acquirer	Account ID,	2. Acquirer Contract ID,	
4. Billing Ac	count ID	3. Order status (accepted),	
Ũ		4. Feasibility details,	
		5. Provider Committed Date,	
		6. Appointment Type	
Scenario 4. No	tify Order Rejected		
Given	Order details are valid		
When	Order feasibility has been che	ecked and is not feasible.	
Then	Update the order status to rej		
men			
	And notify Order rejected to t		
Data Input		Data Output	
Order details	, including but not limited to:	Send Order Rejected notification to the Acquirer	
1. Service a	iddress,	with reason(s)	
2. Product,			
3. Order ID,			
	Account ID and		
5. Billing Ac	count ID etc		
Scenario 5. No	tify Cancel an In-flight Order C	Completed	
Given		in-flight order has been received by the Provider	
When	An in-flight order has been ca		
WIICH	An in-light order has been ee	litecticu	
Then		el Completed notification to the Acquirer	
Acquirer receives notification that the cancellation is completed and is aware of			
	any charges due		
Data Input		Data Output	
	not limited to the following:	1. Send a Cancel an iln-flight Order Completed	
-	not innited to the following.		
Order ID		notification (Any cancellation or term charges are	
		identified in the message, with explanation)	
		2. Update order record	
Scenario 6 No	tify Amend an In-flight Order C	Completed	
Given		in-flight order has been received	
When	The original order is amended		
Then		quirer advising amend to an in-flight order has been	
	completed		
	Update any changes to the S	LA clock	
Data Input		Data Output	
	, including but not limited to:	1. Send a Amend an In-flight Order Completed	
	•	e i	
1. service a	uuiess,	notification.	
2. product,		2. Message confirms what amendment has been	
3. order ID,		made including but not limited to audit trail of	
4. Acquirer	Account ID,	request	
	count ID etc	3. Message conveys any changes as a result,	
,, ig , io		including but not limited to new	
		delivery/appointment date, additional charges	
	tify Order Jeopardy		
Given	An order is in fulfilment		
When	An event occurs that will dela	av the order or lead to failure	
Then	Provider sends an order delyy		
	Trovide sends attolder delyy		
Data Input		Data Output	
Including but	not limited to the following:	Send an Order Jeopardy notification with reasons	
NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION COPYRIGHT			

		<u> </u>	
1. Order ID,			
2. Delay reas	son(s)		
Scenario 8 Not	ify Auto Cancel an In-flight O	rde	<u>r</u>
			der is waiting input from the Acquirer
When I	Provider is waiting for the Acc	lnir∈	er to take action and the designated period of
1	time has passed		
Then S	Sends an <i>Auto Order Cancel</i> i	led i	notification to the Acquirer with reason(s)
Data Input		Da	ata Output
Including but r	not limited to the following:	Αι	uto send a Cancel an In-flight Order notification
1. Acquirer A	Account ID,	wi	ith reason, including but not limited to cancelled
2. Billing Acc	ount ID,	du	ue to non-response
3. Order ID,			
4. Assistance	request timer		
Scenario 9. Noti	fy Order Completed		
	Order details are valid		
When (Order fulfilment has complete	ed si	uccessfully
			on message to the Acquirer containing
	completion data, including b		
	1. Date/time completed,		
	2. excess charges,		
	3. commissioning test results		
2	4. service location informat		(e.g. rack/port etc).
	5. billing start date		(9
F	Provider initiates billing from th	nis d	late
	And the SLA clock stops		
	Provider closes order		
Data Input		Da	ta Output
	not limited to the following:	1. 9	Send Order Completied notification to Acquirer,
Order details	5		cluding but not limited to:
		1.	-
		2.	
		3.	Ccompletion date,
		4.	Billing Start Date
Business Rules			
ID	Name		Description
N/A			

FUL R008	Notify End-User Information	
As a I want to so that	Provider Request additional information from the Acquirer The action I am undertaking (applicable to various Processes) can be progressed	
Description		
	s placing an order and during its fulfilment, Provider requires additional information uirer or their End-User to progress fulfilment.	
Scenarios		
Scenario 1. No	tify End-User information required	
Given	That the order exists	
When	The Provider has identified that additional End-User information is required during the order provisioning process	
Then	Provider send requests to the Acquirer to provide End-User sourced data And the Acquirer supplies all necessary data And the Provider analyses the End-User data in order to progress the order fulfilment	
Data Input	Data Output	

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

 Including but not limited to the following: Order ID, Details on information required 		A request sent to the Acquirer with the following details, including but not limited to:1. Order ID,2. Order Status,
Business Rules		
ID	Description	
N/A		

FUL R009	Notify	Assistance Required	1
As a	Provider		·
I want to	Request assistance from the End-User, Acquirer or other Providers during order		
	fulfilment		
so that	The necessary fulfilment work/activity can be completed to progress through the order process		
Description			
			Co requires some action or information from the o progress to fulfilment.
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. N	otify assista	nce required	
Given	The order		
When	Assistance is required from the Acquirer		
Then	The data	set is validated	
	Request for assistance is sent to Acquirer/Provider		
	Activity request response clock commences		
	Note:This can stop the SLA clock if appropriate (this will be conveyed in the message)		
			Data Output
Including bu	it not limited	to the following:	Send the request to the Acquirer with the following
1. Order ID),	0	details, including but not limited to:
2details	on asistance	e activities,	1. Activity instruction,
(activity	instruction,	activity	2. Activity description
description etc)			
Business Rules			
ID		Description	
N/A			
	Deau	st Moro Timo	

FUL R010	Request More Time		
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Request more time to provide a response to an outstanding action The order open until the Acquire can provide the necessary response.		
Description			
The Acquirer has been requested to take action and they need more time to respond beyond the standard time period. In cases where the Acquirer is unable to take action within a configurable timeframe the Provider will send a configurable reminder message to the Acquirer. If no further response is recieved from the Acquirer, the Provider will auto cancel the order.			
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Red	guest more time - accepted		
Given When Then	A request has been sent to the Acquirer to take action The Acquirer requests more time to complete a request Refreshes the time-out clock to allow more time		
Data Input	Data Output		
Including but	not limited to the following: 1.Refresh the SLA clock		

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

1. Order ID,		2.Notification sent to Acquirer
2. details on asistance activities (activity		
instruction, activity description etc)		
Scenario 2. Request more		
		e Acquirer to take action
		me to complete a request has breached the
maximum		
Then Notify reje	cted with reason	
3,	rder will be cancelle	he
Data Input		Data Output
Including but not limited	to the following:	Rejected requires more time notification sent to
	r to the following.	
	o othultion (o othultu	Acquirer
2. details on asistance	. ,	
instruction, activity of	description etc)	
Scenario 3. Auto reminde	r notification	
Given A request	has been sent to the	e Acquirer to take action
When No repons	se is yet to be receiv	ved from the Acquirer
	minder message to	
Data Input	0	Data Output
Including but not limited	to the following:	Auto send a reminder notification
1. Order ID.		
 details on asistance activities (activity 		
instruction, activity description)		
Business Rules		
ID	Description	
N/A		
U		

5.2.2.4 Modify Existing Service

FUL R011	Modify Existing Service		
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Modify an existing service being delivered to an End-User, An existing service(s) can be modified and delivered to the End-User.		
Description	1		
	er is requesting an upgrade/down I modify the services for the End-Us	grade to an active service. The change service er.	
Scenarios			
Scenario 1	<u>. Create Modify Existing Service</u>		
Given When Then	The Acquirer has been authenticated And authorised to order And service is exists The Acquirer provides valid order details (And the product requested is supported) The data set is validated against the business rules And Modify existing service order is created And Acknowledges back to the Acquirer that the order has been received (pending status) And the SLA clock starts		
Data Inpu	<u>t</u>	Data Output	
 Including but not limited to the following: Order details, including but not limited to: 1. Address, 2. Product component(s), 3. Acquirer Account ID, 4. Existing Service ID, 5. Billing Account ID 		Send Order Acknolwedged notification	
Scenario 2. Unable to create Modify Existing Service order			

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

Given	The Acquirer has been authenticated		
	And authorised to order		
	And the service exists		
When	The Acquirer provides valid orde		
	And the product requested is su		
Then	The data set is validated against		
	And sends a notification to the A	Acquirer	
Data Inp	<u>ut</u>	Data Output	
Including	but not limited to the following:	Failed notification with reason(s)	
Order de	tails, including but not limited to:		
1. Address,			
2. Product component(s),			
3. Acqu	uirer Account ID,		
	g Account ID,		
5. Existing Service ID			
Business Rules		•	
ID	Description		
N/A			

5.2.2.5 Disconnect a Service

FUL R012	Disconnect a Service				
As an I want to	Acquirer Cancel an exiting service being delivered to an End-User,				
so that	The delivery of the service to the End-User is discontinued.				
Description					
	er is placing an order as one of the er. A cancel order can only apply	eir activities to cancel an existing service supplied to / to a single location.			
	enarios: Acquirer cancels an existi that are not being cancelled	ng service where there are no cross dependancies			
Scenarios					
	Disconnect a Service order				
Given	The Acquirer has been authentic	cated and is authorized to order			
	And service is exists				
When		r details (e.g. Acquirer Account ID, existing Service			
Then	ID, product code, address, order type) The data set is validated against the business rules				
men	And an order is created				
	And the SLA clock starts				
	And Acknowledges back to the	Acquirer that the order has been received (pending			
	status).				
Data Inpu		Data Output			
0	but not limited to the following:	Send order Acknolwedged notification			
1. Order details,					
2. Addre					
 Acquirer Account ID, Existing Service ID, 					
4. EXISUIT 5. CRD	y service ID,				
Business Rules					
ID ID	Description				
N/A	Description				
ļ					

5.2.2.6 Connection Forecast

FUL R013	Connection Forecast			
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Inform the Provider of my forecast order volumes, Provider can check that these fall within my contractual agreement and be prepared to accept them when issued, or be able to agree volumes that fall outside of my current contract.			
Description				
Provider ch		eed format and submits. lume, evaluates for acceptance or rejection and can be amended and re submitted.		
Scenarios				
<u>Scenario 1.</u> Given When Then	The Acquirer provides valid de order type, volumes etc) The data set is validated again	d by the Provider nticated and is authorised to request forecasts etails (e.g. Acquirer Account ID, product code, nst the contratual limits and business rules to the Acquirer that the order forecast has been		
Data Input		Data Output		
1. Acqui		Send order forecast acceptance notification		
Scenario 2.	Connection forecast cannot b	e agreed to by the Provider		
Given When	The Acquirer provides valid de type, volumes etc)	aticated and is authorised to request forecasts etails (e.g. Acquirer Account ID, product code, order		
ThenThe data set is validated against the contratual limits and business rules and determined that cannot be acknowledged And the rejection is sent back to the Acquirer advising that the order forecast cannot be fulfilled by the Provider				
Data Input Data Output				
Including but not limited to the following: 1. Acquirer Account ID, 2. Product code, 3. Order type, 4. Volumes Business Rules		Send order forecast rejection notification with reason		
ID ID	Description			
N/A	Description			
IN/A				

6 APPOINTMENT MANAGEMENT

Appointment management covers processes for managing the establishment of mutual acceptable appointment time slots between the Provider and Acquirer. Appointment management is needed for handling visits to shared facilities or End-User facilities to install or repair equipments, for example, to access End-User premises, locked engineering or other facilities, or for joint testing between two enterprises.

6.1 High Level Interaction Process

FIGURE 8 and FIGURE 9 illustrates possible scenarios for scheduling an appointment transaction process.



Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010

FIGURE 8 High Level Appointment scheduling transaction process – Initiated by the Acquirer



FIGURE 9

High level Appointment Scheduling Interaction Process – Initiated by the ProviderNBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATIONCOPYRIGHTRELEASE 1DECEMBER 2010

6.2 Appointment Management User Stories

APP R001	Request Appointment A	vailability			
As an	Acquirer				
I want to	Request availability of appointment slots				
so that	An appointment can be reserved that suits me and my End-User.				
Description					
		o schedule an appointment that is suitable to an			
	wailable appointments from W	/orkforce Management are returned to the			
Acquirer.					
Scenarios					
	pointment times slots available				
Given		an appointment and has requested a valid			
	appointment type				
When		ired duration and required resource skill sets are e window. Note - Where no slots are available			
		ow, the search is expanded to match the SLA			
	window of the product-instan				
Then	Provider sends the matching a				
Data Input		Data Output			
	nstance Order,	Response with Available Appointment slot options			
2. Address,					
3. Appointm					
	ge (Default date range is the				
	d of the product-instance),				
	preference (e.g. first , standard, out of hours etc.)				
<u>Scenario 2. No</u> Given	matching appointment slots	an appointment and has requested a valid			
Given	appointment type	an appointment and has requested a valid			
When		ired duration and required resource skill sets / geo			
		selected time window. Note - Where no slots are			
	available within the selected	time window, the search is expanded to match the			
	SLA window of the product-ins				
Then	Provider sends no appointment				
Data Input		Data Output			
	nstance Order,	Response with No Available Appointment			
 Address, Appointm 	vent Type	message with future available time slots options returned			
	ge (Default date range is	letamea			
	eriod of the product-	More advanced search options are possible - e.g.			
instance)	•	Slots before/after a specific time. Out of hour's			
5. AM/PM preference (e.g. first		slots - this may be a billable product-instance.			
available, standard, out of hours etc.)					
Business Rules					
ID Description					
U.L2C.2_1 R1	"Priority" escalations are an e	xample of an appointment type that carries a			
	specific allocation of resources for each Acquirer. As such the Acquirer's can s				
		eir priority escalations from this pool of dedicated			
	resource by geography and skill type.				
U.L2C.2_1 R2	Strict rules as to what types o	f appointments can be reserved ahead of an order			

APP R002	Request Appointment Reservation
As an	Acquirer
I want to	Request Appointment Reservation prior to raising an order
so that	An appointment can be arranged during first contact with my End-User, or later
30 1141	An appointment can be analyed daming inst contact with my End oser, of later

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

as required to deliver the product-instance.					
Description					
An appointment can be a appointment within a cor configurable timeframe is	An appointment can be reserved prior or after an order is placed. Provider will reserve an appointment within a configurable timeframe. If a reserved appointment is not booked prior the configurable timeframe is reached, the reserved appointment will be auto cancelled by the system and a notification will be sent to the Acquirer.				
Scenarios					
Scenario 1. Appointment	time slot is available				
Given Acquirer is	s authorised to book	an appointment and has requested a valid			
Whenappointment typeWhenthe Appointment slot of the required duration with the required resource skill sets / geo location is available for the selected time slot is available.ThenProvider will hold the appointment for the Acquirer until it is confirmed or the time-					
out for the	e temporary reservat				
<u>Data Input</u>		Data Output			
 Appointment date, appointment time sl order id (optional), ticket id (optional), 	ot,	Appoint reservation ID			
Scenario 2. Appointment slot not availableGivenAcquirer is authorized to book an appointment and has requested a valid appointment typeWhenAppointment is not availableThenProvider sends no appointments available response					
ThenProvider setData Input		Data Output			
 Appointment date, appointment time slot, order id (optional), ticket id (optional) 		Response with No Available Appointment message with future available time slot options returned			
Note that appointment be done prior to order su					
Business Rules					
ID	Description				
N/A					

APP R003	Book Appointment
As a/an	Acquirer or Provider
I want to	Book an appointment, including confirming a reserved appointment, where this
	is necessary to deliver a service or resolve an incident.
so that	The appointment can be arranged in agreement with the End-User.
Description	

Booking appointment is a process which involves the appointment confirmation process.

The Acquirer shall be able to schedule an appointment for Provider to gain access to the Enduser's premises, e.g., to install equipment, or where the results of service tests/diagnostics indicate that a site visit is required. Provider may be able to offer the Acquirer the convenient time slots for carrying out activities at the Acquirer's or their End-User premises.

The Acquirer shall be able to accept or decline the time slots offered by Provider or vice versa. Provider shall offer available time slot(s) within the SLA time-scale for the service. The Acquirer should be able to offer the available access times from the End-User's point of view for each specified location by request.

The Acquirer can request an appointment beyond SLA if required by their End-User Scenarios

Scenario 1. Co	nfirm Appointment Booking		
Given	Acquirer is authorised to book an appointment and has requested a valid		
	appointment type, and validation confirms this is not a duplicate booking.		
When		elected from the available time slots, or request	
	confirmation of a previously re-		
Then	Provider confirms appointmen	nts sends response to Acquirer	
Data Input		Data Output	
1. Appointm		1. Confirmed Appointment,	
	nent time slot,	2. Work order ID	
	or ticket ID,		
4. Preferred	workforce		
5. Ref ID			
Scenario 2. Rej	ect an Appointment		
Given	Acquirer is authorised to book	an appointment and has requested a valid	
appointment type			
When	Appointment time window is r	not available or does not suit the Provider or	
	Acquirer		
Then		appointments rejected response	
And available appointment of		ptions are provided	
Data Input		Data Output	
1. Appointm		Response with No Available Appointment	
	nent time slot,	message with available appointment options	
3. Order ID (
 Ticket ID (optional), 			
5. Preferred workforce			
6. Ref ID			
Business Rules			
ID	Description		
U.L2C.2_3 R1	The Provider can request an	appointment beyond SLA if required by their End-	
	User		

APP R004	Query Appointment Details			
As an	Acquirer			
I want to	Query the	e details of an existing	appointment	
so that	The appo	intment details are ma	ade available for me to take necessary action.	
Description				
Once an appo appointment.	ointment h	as been reserved or b	ooked, the Acquirer can query the details of the	
Scenarios				
Scenario Appo	intment Q	uery		
Given	Acquirer is authorised to view an appointment and has requested a valid appointment search criteria			entment
When	Acquirer requests details for a particular appointment or search criteria			
Then	Provider send matching Appointment details to the Acquirer			
Data Input Data Output		Data Output		
Appointment query request Appointment details sent to the Acquirer				
Business Rules				
ID	Description			
N/A				

APP R005	Re-schedule an appointment
As a/an	Acquirer or Provider
I want to	Change an appointment time for an End-User
so that	A visit is rescheduled.

Description					
Where circumstances change it may be necessary for an appointment to be rescheduled with					
an End-User. Where this is done at the request of the Acquirer or Provider, the SLA will restart for					
	the affected activities.				
		can request an app	ointment beyond SLA if required by their End-User		
Scenarios					
	ICCOSSFUL Ar	pointment Change			
Given			d to change an appointment and has requested a		
Given		pintment type	a to change an appointment and has requested a		
When		of no return has not	been reached		
Then			ointment slot of the required duration with the		
			eo location is available for the selected time slot is		
			Itment booking is cancelled. Any dependant order		
			ated to reflect the revised time slot. (Changes		
			be accepted but may incur charges)		
Data Input			Data Output		
		equest details sent	Change Confirmation details sent to the Acquirer		
from the Ac	quirer				
Scenario 2. Fa	ailed Appoir	ntment Change			
Given	Acquirer/I	Provider is authorised	d to change an appointment and has requested		
	a valid ap	pointment type			
When	The point of no return has not been reached, the requested time slot is not				
	available.				
Then			ed to the Acquirer. (The Acquirer/Provider can		
	revise his request or may choose to cancel the existing appointment pending				
	discussion	s with the End-User.)			
Data Input			Data Output		
		equest details sent	Send Fail message with reason(s)		
from the Ac					
			int of No Return Breached		
Given			d to change an appointment and has requested a		
valid appointment type					
When The point of no return has been reached Then A rejection message is returned to the Acquirer.					
Then A rejection message is returned to the Acquirer Data Input Data Output					
			Data Output Send Fail message with reason(s)		
Appointment change request details sent from the Acquirer/Provider			Seria i ali message with leason(s)		
Business Rule:					
	3	Description			
		Description			
N/A					

APP R006	Update Appointment Details	
As an	Acquirer	
I want to	Change/add appointment details to an existing appointment	
so that	Provider has current details for the appointment.	
Description		
	nstances change eg, (the contact details of the End-User for the appointment), the otify the Provider	
Scenarios		
Scenario Chai	nge/add details to an existing appointment	
Given	Acquirer is authorised to change/add appointment and has identified an existing appointment	
When	New details have been provided	
Then	Provider update details (eg.contact phone number, Contact name) . This	
	information will be attached in the work ticket.	
Data Input	Data Output	

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

Appointment change request details sent from the Acquirer		Change Confirmation details sent to Acquirer
Business Rules		
ID	Description	
U.L2C.2_6 R1	The Acquirer cannot change the appointment window or appointment type or the address.	

APP R007	App	ointment Cancellat	ion Request		
As an	Acquirer				
I want to		Cancel an appointment which is no longer required			
so that	An unsuce	An unsuccessful visit is avoided.			
Description					
			essary for an appointment to be ca		
			appointment time being set. This w		
			ppointment is booked. Where this is		
request of th booked.	e Acquirer, t	he SLA will restart for	r the affected activities when a nev	v appointment is	
Scenarios					
Scenario 1 R	equest Appo	intment Cancellatio	<u>n</u>		
Given			cel an appointment and has reques	ted a valid	
	appointm				
When		of no return has not			
Then	Provider c	ancel the appointm	nent. Any dependant order or fault	resolution	
			ended. Where Fulfilment activities a pe prompted to rebook. (Cancellati		
			be accepted but may incur charge		
Data Input	requestee		Data Output	-3)	
	nt details ser	nt from the	Cancellation Confirmation details	sent to Acquirer	
Acquirer					
Scenario 2 N	otify Appoint	ment Cancelled			
Given	Acquirer i	s authorised to cand	cel an appointment and has reques	ted a valid	
	appointm				
When		of no return has not			
Then	Appointm	ent cancelled notifi	ication sends to the Acquirer		
Data Input			Data Output		
Appointme	nt details		Appointment cancellation notification the Acquirer	ation is sent to	
Business Rule	26				
ID	,3	Description			
N/A		Description			
APP R008	Арро	intment Attempt Fai	lure Notification		
As a	Provider				
I want to			appointment could not proceed		
so that	The Acqu	rer contacts the End	d-User to rebook.		
Description					
			ntry to the Provider accessing the pr	emise or the	
Provider was unable to keep the appointment.					
Scenarios					
		-	re - Unable to access End-User Prei	<u>mises/ Provider</u>	
	<u>ep appointment</u>				
Given			site at the agreed appointment tim		
When			ertake the agreed work at the agree	ed lime of the	
Then	 Provider is unable to keep the appointment. The appointment booking is cancelled. Any dependant order processing 			acessina	
men	activities are suspended. Any associated no-show charges are billed to the				
		are susperided. Ally	associated no-snow charges are b		
NBN B2B INT	ERACTION	PROCESS REQUIRE	MENTS SPECIFICATION	COPYRIG	

prompted appointm	Acquirer. Where Fulfilment activities are suspended, the Acquirer will be prompted to rebook. (The Acquirer will subsequently book another appointment if it is still required, for no earlier than the date specified by Provider (e.g. due to a delay). Any original SLA is voided			
Data Input		Data Output		
Appointment details		Appointment cancellation notification is sent to the Acquirer		
Business Rules	Business Rules			
ID	Description			
N/A				

APP R009	Book Fo	ollow-up Appointme	nt
As an I want to			t, including confirming a reserved appointment,
so that	An appoir	3	nplete delivery of a service nged in agreement with the End-User to asks.
Description			
Acquirer follow linked to a prev			booking process, identifying this appointment as
Scenarios	Scenarios		
Scenario 1. Co	nfirm Appo	<u>pintment</u>	
Given	Acquirer is	s authorized to book	an appointment and has requested a valid
When	appointment type Select an appointment from the available time slots, or request confirmation of a previously reserved appointment		
Then	Provider c	onfirms appointmer	nts sends response to the Acquirer
Data Input			Data Output
Appointment Request			Confirmed Appointment
Business Rules			
ID		Description	
N/A			

APP R010	Appointr	ment Required Notifi	cation	
As a	Provider			
I want to	Notify the	Acquirer that an ap	pointment is required to fulfil an order or resolve	
	an incider	nt.		
so that	The Acquir	rer can negotiate a	suitable appointment slot with the End-User.	
Description				
	and reque		ess an End-User site. When this occurs, the Acquirer effor the End-User. Appointment options will be	
Scenarios				
Scenario Appo	pintment Re	quired Notification		
Given	Provider ne	eeds to access an E	nd-User premise	
When	An appoin	ntment is required to	activate a service or resolve an incident	
Then	Provider w	ill send the Acquirer	an appointment notification with suggested	
	available a	appointment slots fo	or the affected End-User.	
Data Input			Data Output	
Order details or Trouble Ticket details		ficket details	1. Appointment notification Request,	
			2. Available Appointment options	
Business Rules	Business Rules			
ID		Description		

N/A	

F				
APP R011	Appointment Detail Update Notification			
As a	Provider			
I want to	Notify the Acquirer that there are changes to the appointment details required			
	to fulfil an o	order or resolve an	incident.	
so that	The Acquir	er is fully informed a	about the appointment booked with the End-User.	
Description				
Circumstance	s may requir	re the Provider to p	rovide additional or revised details to the Acquirer	
that may need	d to be com	municated to the E	End-User. When this occurs, the Acquirer will be	
notified.				
Scenarios				
Scenario Appo	<u>pintment De</u>	tails change		
Given	Appointment is booked			
When	An appoin	tment details have	been changed	
Then	Provider wi	ill send the Acquire	r an Appointment update notification with the	
	new and re	evised details.		
Data Input			Data Output	
Order or Trouble ticket details		etails	Appointment details notification	
Business Rules	Business Rules			
ID		Description		
N/A				

APP R012	Notify new/ additional appointment charge			
As a	Provider			
I want to	Notify the Acquirer that th	Notify the Acquirer that there are new or additional charges to the appointment		
	which is associated to an			
so that	The charges are authorise	ed and the associated order or ticket can be further		
	progressed with.			
Description				
Notification fro	om the Provider that new or	additional charges related to the appointment will be		
received and	requests authorisation from	the Acquirer. Acquirer will be required to notify the		
Provider that t	hey accept or reject to not	ified charges.		
Scenarios				
Scenario: 1 Ne	w or additional charges to	appointment acceptable & authorised		
Given	Appointment is booked			
When		irer that new/ additional appointment charges be levied		
	and requests authorisation			
Then	•	vider authorisation that the Appointment charges are		
	accepted			
<u>Data Input</u>		Data Output		
	not limited to:	Acquirer sends acceptance notification to new/		
1. Appointr		excess charges		
	xcess charge,			
3. Description				
	w or additional charges to	appointment rejected		
Given	Appointment is booked			
When		irer that new/ additional appointment charges be levied		
and requests authorisation				
Then Acquirer does not authorise the charges and sends a rejection notification to the		se the charges and sends a rejection notification to the		
Provider.				
Data Input	+ 1! !+! + -	Data Output		
	not limited to:	Acquirier sends rejection notification to new/ excess		
1. Appointr	nentid,	charges		

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

2. 3.	 new or excess charge, Description 		
Busir	ness Rules		
ID		Description	
N/A	Ą		

APP R013	Single Appointment or truck roll to deliver End user service		
	Acquirer		
		and book a single a	
			be used to deliver the access service by the
	Plovidel a	nd Layer 3 end user	
Description		D 11 11 1	
			ppointment is required to be booked to deliver
		•	type. Acquirer to request available time slots and progress with appointment booking and
confirmation.	y agreear		progress with appointment booking and
Scenarios			
Scenario: 1 Acc	uirer has	existing valid appoir	ntment with FWF
	The same FWF is delivering the a		e access and L3 service components
	Acquirer has appointment that satisfies the Provider demand type and their own		
			& appointment reference to Provider
		•	appointment reference, assess against business
	rules and	confirm appointmer	
Data Input			Data Output
Includes but n		to:	Provider sends confirmation notification and
 Appointm Workforce 			confirms appointment
3. Demand t	•		Note that if the appointment reference/ FWF was
4. Order ID,			invalid or did not comply within Provider business
5. Ticket ID.			rules, the request would be rejected with reasons
			specified or notified to the Acquirer
Business Rules			
ID		Description	
N/A	/A		

7 **ASSURANCE**

Assurance consists of a set of functions across the B2B Gateway that enables troubles to be reported, tracked, and maintained. This may be carried out after the Acquirer (Communications Provider, Acquirer) has carried out an initial diagnosis using the testing management.

7.1 **High Level Interaction Process**

FIGURE 10 illustrates high level end-to-end Trouble Ticket management B2B transaction processes.



Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010

FIGURE 10

Trouble Ticket Raised by the Acquirer/Communication Provider

FIGURE 11 illustrates high level end-to-end Trouble Ticket management B2B transaction processes in a scenario of an Alarm Event Ticket has been identified by Provider.



Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010

FIGURE 11

Notify Acquirer/Communication Provider of Planned Outage or Hazard or Alarm Event

FIGURE 12 illustrates high level end-to-end Trouble Ticket management B2B transaction processes in a scenario of a Change management has been scheduled by Provider.



FIGURE 12

Notify Acquirer of Planned Outage/Hazard

7.2 Assurance User Stories

DECEMBER 2010

7.2.1 Raise Trouble Ticket

TT-R001	Raise a Trouble Ticket	
As an I want to	Acquirer Request Provider to resolve an incident in their domain which is a service	affecting my
NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION COPYRIG RELEASE 1		

	e(s) is restored.			
Description				
Acquirer will have the ability to raise a Trouble Ticket via B2B. In a scenario where an incident				
occurs from the End-User or a service/fault that does not impact an End-User, Acquirer will				
		network related and required to perform first level		
	licket is not resolved	then Acquirer raises a Trouble Ticket with the		
Provider.				
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Successful rai				
		cident is related to the Provider network elements,		
		support and the Incident cannot be resolved.		
	has provided valid Tro			
		entication to raise a Trouble Ticket		
		uble Ticket has been lodged		
	uble Ticket record is c			
Data Input		Data Output		
Including but not limited		1. Trouble Ticket record with reference ID		
1. Trouble Ticket occur	rance date,	2. Send notification to Acquirer that Trouble		
2. Service ID,	contration	Ticket has been lodged		
3. Service effected de	escription,			
4. location,				
5. test results,				
 severity level, related Trouble Ticks 	otinformation			
7. related Trouble Ticke	ermonnation			
Or				
01				
For Network Trouble e.g.	overall			
degradation, including				
Date,	but not innited to:			
1. Description,				
2. Service ID (optional)).			
3. POI,	/1			
4. test results,				
5. severity level,				
6. related trouble ticke	ets			
Scenario 2. Unsuccessful	raise a Trouble Ticket	request		
		sue is related to the Provider network, has		
		port and the incident cannot be		
	changes are required			
		ouble Ticket request details		
Then Details are	e validated			
Fail messa	ige is being returned v	with reason		
Data Input		Data Output		
Including but not limited	to:	Failed message is being returned		
1. Trouble Ticket occu	rance date,			
2. Service ID,				
3. End-User service effe	ected description,			
location,				
4. related Trouble Ticke	et information			
Business Rules				
ID	Description			
U.T2R.2_10 R1		e that they have performed initial diagnostics prior		
		Ticket with the Provider by providing test results		
μ				

7.2.2 Trouble Ticket Management & Tracking

TT-R002	Que	ery Trouble Ticket His	tory/Details
As an	Acquirer		
I want to	Query the Trouble Ticket history on a specified service		
so that	The Trouble Ticket history of the service information can be used for an existing		
	Trouble Tio	cket resolution.	
Description			
Acquirer will h	ave the ab	pility to request detai	ls/history on a Trouble Ticket within a configurable
limited date a	nd business	rules will be applied	1.
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Su	iccessfully :	submit Trouble Ticke	t Inquiry request
Given	The Troubl	e Ticket is related to	the inquiring Acquirer
When		provided valid Troub	
Then		s validated against b	
			the query providing Trouble Ticket history details
	that matc	hes the Acquirer rec	uest criteria
Data Input			Data Output
	Trouble Ticket ID, Service details, Trouble		1. Trouble Ticket history details
Ticket status	Ticket status		
		<u>y submit Trouble Tick</u>	
Given			the inquiring Acquirer
When		provided invalid Trou	
Then	Failure me	essage is being return	
Data Input			Data Output
			Failure notification
2. Service details,			
3. Trouble Ticket status			
Business Rules			
ID		Description	
N/A			
<u> </u>			

TT-R003	Notify Trouble Ticket Crea	ated (Alarm)		
As a I want to	Provider Be able to send notification of Trouble Ticket generated from an Alarm & Event			
so that	effecting the Acquirer networ Acquirer can manage End-Us			
Description	nequier can manage end of			
Provider Alarm resolved via Tr		has indicated that an incident is needed to be Provider system will automatically raise a Trouble		
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Notify Acquirer an Trouble Ticket creation				
Given		Provider Alarm & Event management system		
When	Trouble Ticket has been created			
Then	And effected Acquirer(s) has been identified Send Trouble Ticket created notification to effected Acquirer(s) with related Trouble Ticket details			
Data Input		Data Output		
 Trouble Ticket record, including but not limited to: 1. Resolution SLA, 2. Service impacted details, 3. ETR if known, 4. geographic details 		Send a notification to impacted Acquirer(s) with Trouble Ticket details, including but not limited to Targeted resolution SLA and impacted Service details		
Business Rules				
ID	Description			

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

N/A	

TT-R004	Keep Customer (Acquirer) In	formed		
As a	Provider			
I want to	Send regular updates to Acquirer as a Trouble Ticket progresses through to			
	resolution			
so that	Acquirer has an up to date information on the progress of the Trouble Ticket			
	resolution tasks at agreed mile	estones (i.e. Targeted resolution time)		
Description				
	ll send an update on the progre violated, escalation, Trouble Tid	ess of a Trouble Ticket to Acquirer including but not cket category changes etc		
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. No	otify Trouble Ticket update to Ac	quirer		
Given	A Trouble Ticket has been raise			
When	Trouble Ticket details, including	g but not limited to category, have been		
	updatedA pre-defined update	e notification criteria occurs in the resolution		
		expected resolution time, status change,		
	Trouble Ticket category chan			
Then		and validates the data to be sent in the form of		
		rent parties involved (Partner/Provider/Acquirer		
	etc.)	o o menu unico stic no		
	Provider creates the required	e communications from time to time to the		
	Acquirer			
Data Input		Data Output		
	et record: SLA, Trouble Ticket	Notification with Trouble Ticket details, targeted		
	optional) etc	resolution times, SLA etc		
Scenario 2. No				
Given	Trouble Ticket has been create	ed		
When	Provider identifies a jeopardy	in their process which will impact agreed resolution		
	target or component mileston			
Then	Sends jeopardy notification to			
		d impact description (could be a reason code if		
Data lunut	agreed with Acquirers)	Dete Outrast		
Data Input	Cicket ID	Data Output		
1. Trouble 1 2. SLA,	licket ID,	Send jeopardy notification to the Acquirer with reason code and impacts description		
	ly reason code	reason code and impacts description		
	otify Trouble Ticket Accepted			
Given	Trouble Ticket has been lodge	d		
When		e Ticket was lodged by the Acquirer		
Then		irer with targeted resolution timrframe.		
	And the SLA clock starts			
Data Input		Data Output		
Trouble Ticke	et ID,	1. Send notification to the Acquirer with Trouble		
		ticket status as In Progress and resolution		
		timeframe		
Scenario 4. No	<u>otify Trouble Ticket Rejected</u>			
Given				
When		ket was lodged by the Acquirer		
Then	Sends notification to the Acqu			
<u>Data Input</u>		Data Output		
Trouble Ticke	et ID,	1. Send notification to the Acquirer that their		
		Trouble Ticket has been rejected with reason		
L		code.		
Business Rules	•			

ID	Description
N/A	

TT-R005	Add Tr	ouble Ticket Comm	ients	
As a	Acquirer or Provider			
I want to	Add notes or comments to a Trouble Ticket			
so that	Provider/A	Acquirer has the late	est and complete information about the Trouble	
	Ticket which will assist its resolution.			
Description				
Provider will h	ave the ab	ility to add notes/co	omments to a Trouble Ticket details at any time.	
Acquirer can a	add comm	ents s to Trouble Ticl	kets that they have raised or if they are the only	
			ouble Ticket notes that they have added.	
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Ad	Scenario 1. Add Trouble Ticket Notes/Comments			
Given	Acquirer/Provider has the authority to add notes/comments to a Trouble Ticket			
	details			
When	Valid additional details are provided			
Then	Data set is validated against business rules			
	Trouble Ticket record is updated with new notes			
Data Input			Data Output	
Additional no	otes		1. Update Trouble Ticket record	
			2. Notify Trouble ticket updated to affected	
			parties, including but not limited to Acquirer,	
			Trouble ticket owner	
Business Rules				
ID		Description		
U.T2R.2_15 R1		Acquirer/Provider	will not be able to delete or edit existing resolution	
		notes/comments	č	
P		•		

TT-R006	Reques	st Service Information	
As an A	Acquirer		
I want to	Obtain an active service information that experiencing an incident from the		
F	rovider		
•••		l information can be associated with other information I have on the	
		oblem, such that I can make a diagnosis on the root cause(s) of a	
	rouble Tic	cket.	
Description			
		to send a request to retrieve servive information to analysis a Trouble	
Ticket for diagno			
The level of servi	ce inform	nation will be limited expose to the Acquirer.	
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Request Service Information			
Given A	Acquirer has the authority to request for service information.		
A	And have an active service		
	Acquirer determines service information is required from the Provider to assist		
	with diagnose analysis.		
		e system to validate against service exposure business rules	
	And provide service information to the Acquirer		
<u>Data Input</u>		Data Output	
1. Service ID,		Service details	
2. Acquirer c	2. Acquirer contract ID		
Business Rules			
ID		Description	
N/A			

TT-R007	Notify	Information/Assista	nce Required	
Asa F	Provider			
	Request additional information from the Acquirer			
so that A	An action	I am undertaking c	an be progressed (applicable to various processes)	
Description				
During the Troub	ole Ticket	diagnostic process,	Provider has identified aditional information or	
assistance is req	uired to a	issist with the investi	gation process or activity in order to resolve an issue	
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Notif	y Acquire	er information requir	ed	
Given ⊺	rouble Tic	ket is created		
			ded from the Acquirer	
			r to provide sourced data (request volumes should	
			ansactions include all necessary data)	
		upplies all necessar		
			order to provide an appropriate	
advice/help/resolution of the issue Data Input Data Output				
	Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and any additional Send a messgae to the Acquirer to request End-			
information rec		yaddiionai	User information.	
	Scenario 2. Notify assistance required			
	-	cket is created		
When F	Provider ic	lentified assitance r	equired from the Acquirer in order resolve the issue	
Then F	Provider n	otifies that assistanc	e is required from the Acquirer, End-User or another	
F	Provider (e.g. assistance during Appointment; End-User to disconnect UNI etc)			
Τ	The SLA clock starts			
Data Input			Data Output	
Trouble Ticket ID and assistance		sistance	Send message to the Acquirer with assistance	
description activity required details			activity required details	
Business Rules				
ID		Description		
N/A				

TT-R008	Escalate Trouble Ticket			
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Escalate anexisting Trouble Ticket with the Provider The Trouble Ticket priority/severity can be relected due to change in state, or to raise an attention with the Provider, and get the Trouble Ticket resolved accordingly.			
Description				
Acquirer will ha		pen Trouble Ticket due to change in priority or an		
Scenarios				
Scenario 1. Escalate Trouble Ticket				
Given	Trouble Ticket has been raised with the Provider And Acquirer is authenticated to escalate a Trouble Ticket			
When	Acquirer applies business rules to trigger escalation			
Then	Send Trouble Ticket escalation request to the Provider with reasons for escalation required			
	Provider identifies reason for the Escalation and acts according			
Data Input		Data Output		
Trouble Ticket	Trouble Ticket ID and escalation reason Request received and update Trouble Ticket			
Business Rules				
ID	Description			

N/A	

7.2.3 Trouble Ticket Closure

TT-R009	Request Trouble Ticket Cl	ear acceptance	
As a Pro	Provider		
I want to Ve	erify the issue has been reso	lved	
so that The	e Trouble Ticket can be clo	sed	
Description			
	cket is ready to be closed b ovider want to verify the Ac	by human intervention or through an automated test quirer satisfaction	
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Send 1	Trouble Ticket clear request		
Given Tro	puble Ticket has successfully	passed service testing	
When Pro	Provider believes Trouble Ticket has been resolved		
Then Pro	Provider sends Trouble Ticket clear request		
Data Input		Data Output	
Trouble Ticket details, including but not limited to: 1. Trouble Ticket ID,		Send Trouble Ticket clear request with clear code	
2. status,			
3. test results,			
4. Clear code			
Business Rules			
ID	Description		
N/A			

TT-R010	Requ	est Trouble Ticket C	lear Accepted/Rejected
As an I want to so that	Acquirer Advise Provider that the Trouble Ticket has been restored Provider can close their Trouble Ticket		
Description			
Acquirer tests temporarily res		ser and confirms tha	t the issue has been restored, not restored or only
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Se	nd Trouble	Ticket clear accepte	ed
Given	Acquirer r	eceived Trouble Tick	et clear acceptance request
When			icket has been restored
Then			clearance confirmation to the Provider
	Provider c	lose the Trouble Tick	et
Data Input			Data Output
Trouble Troub	ole Clear Ad	ccepted with	Update Trouble Ticket record and close the
reason code			Trouble Ticket
Scenario 2. Send Trouble Ticket Clear Rejected			
Given	Acquirer r	eceived Trouble Tick	et clear acceptance request
When	Acquirer of	confirms the trouble r	report is not yet restored
Then	Acquirer sends a <i>Rejected</i> clearance request to the		
	Provider		
	Provider u	pdate Trouble Ticket	record
Data Input			Data Output
Trouble Ticke	t Clear Reje	ected with reason	Trouble Ticket status remains open
Business Rules			
ID		Description	

N/A	

As a/an Acquirer or Provider I want to Re-open a Trouble Ticket so that An investigation can continue on a previously closed Trouble Ticket. Description Acquirer or Provider will have the ability to re-open on a closed Trouble Ticket for further investigation. Scenarios Scenarios Scenarios Scenario 1. Successfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket tecord 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Includie has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data set is validated against business rules					
I want to so that Re-open a Trouble Ticket An investigation can continue on a previously closed Trouble Ticket. Description Acquirer or Provider will have the ability to re-open on a closed Trouble Ticket for further investigation. Scenarios Scenario I. Successfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re- opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket Men Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation Then Data output Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Failed message with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason Torouble Ticket ID, Selecteri	TT-R011	Re-ope	en a Trouble Ticket		
So that An investigation can continue on a previously closed Trouble Ticket. Description Acquirer or Provider will have the ability to re-open on a closed Trouble Ticket for further investigation. Scenarios Scenario 1. Successfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given Mhone Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Output<					
Description Acquirer or Provider will have the ability to re-open on a closed Trouble Ticket for further investigation. Scenarios An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket Men Acquirer or Provider has identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Industry to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket when the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data output Data Output Including but not limited to					
Acquirer or Provider will have the ability to re-open on a closed Trouble Ticket for further investigation. Scenarios Scenarios Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Output Data Output Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Data Output Failed message with reason	so that	An investigation can continue on a previously closed Trouble Ticket.			
Investigation. Scenarios Scenario 1. Successfully Re-Open a Irouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 1. Updated Trouble Ticket against business rules Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Output Trouble Ticket ID Data Output Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Failed message with reason </th <th>Description</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	Description				
Scenario 1. Successfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Mem Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket Mhem Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Failed message with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Satus, 3. reason code Failed message with reason BR0	Acquirer or Provinvestigation.	vider will h	have the ability to re	e-open on a closed Trouble Ticket for further	
Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Output Data Output Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket when Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, Second an output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Second an output Business Rules Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable tim	Scenarios				
When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given Mhen Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation Then Data output Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, s. 3. reason code Failed message with reason BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02	Scenario 1. Suco	cessfully R	Re-Open a Trouble T	ïcket	
is valid And impact party(ies) has been identified (if re-open by Provider) Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re- opened Data Input Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Including but not limited to 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 3. reason code ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only	Given A	An individ	ual has the authorit	y to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket	
Then Provider validates against business rules Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re- opened Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket 6 Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data output Data Output Including but not limited to 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Failed message with reason Business Rules Including Determine ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe.			or Provider has ident	ified a Trouble Ticket needs further investigation and	
Provider update Trouble Ticket status and reason code. Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re- opened Data Input Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Failed message with reason Business Rules ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe.	1	And impa	ct party(ies) has be	en identified (if re-open by Provider)	
Send a notification to impacted party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re- opened Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Open a Closed Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Send a nidividual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket Mem Mhen Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Failed Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason Failed message with reason Business Rules Include Ticket ID, Include Ticket ID, Failed message with reason BR01 Description BR01 Recurrent of the ticket created by them and only					
Opened Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Failed message with reason Business Rules Including Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only					
Data Input Data Output Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record 2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, Sceason code Business Rules Including but not limited to ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only			tification to impact	ed party(ies) once the Trouble Ticket has been re-	
Trouble Ticket ID and reason code 1. Updated Trouble Ticket record Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, status, 3. reason code Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR01 Trouble Ticket can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only		opened			
2. Notify impacted Party(ies) Scenario 2. Unsuccessfully Re-Open a Trouble Ticket Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, s. reason code Business Rules ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only		Davalas			
Given An individual has the authority to re-open a closed Trouble Ticket When Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, Failed message with reason Business Rules Failed message with reason Failed message with reason BR01 Description Failed message with reason BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only	Ifouble licket i	D and re	ason code		
When Then Acquirer or Provider has identified a Trouble Ticket needs furtherinvestigation Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Failed message with reason Business Rules Failed message with reason Including but not limited to 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Failed message with reason Business Rules Failed message with reason BR01 Irouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only					
Then Data set is validated against business rules Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Feasible Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Business Rules Business Rules BR01 Description BR02 Acquirer can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only					
Fail message is returned with reason Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, Failed message with reason 3. reason code Failed message with reason Business Rules ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only					
Data Input Data Output Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, Failed message with reason 3. reason code Failed message with reason Business Rules Failed message with reason ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only					
Including but not limited to Failed message with reason 1. Trouble Ticket ID, Failed message with reason 2. status, reason code Business Rules Include Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR01 Trouble Ticket can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only		all messa	ge is returned with		
1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status, 3. reason code Business Rules ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only	-				
2. status, 3. reason code Business Rules ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only			l to	Failed message with reason	
Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only	1. Trouble Ticket ID,				
Business Rules ID Description BR01 Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe. BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only					
IDDescriptionBR01Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe.BR02Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only	3. reason co	de			
IDDescriptionBR01Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe.BR02Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only					
BR01Trouble Ticket can only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe.BR02Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only	Business Rules				
BR02 Acquirer can only re-open a Trouble Ticket created by them and only	ID		Description		
	BR01		Trouble Ticket can	only be re-opened within a configurable timeframe.	
	BR02				

7.2.4 Trouble Ticket Cancellation

TT-R012	Request Trouble Ticket Cancellation		
As an	Acquirer		
I want to	Cancel a trouble ticket		
so that	Any further activity can be stopped.		
Description			
Acquirer hav	e the ability to cancel on aTrouble Ticket that is created by them to stop any		
investigation a	investigation activity		
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Su	iccessful cancel a Trouble Ticket		
Given	Trouble Ticket is still open		
When	An individual has the authority to cancel a Trouble Ticket and		
	Has identified a Trouble Ticket has been resolved		

Note: The only acceptable Industry reason for cancelling a Trouble Ticket in progress, is where an incident has been resolved.ThenData set is validated against business rules And Invoke Trouble Ticketing system to cancel a Trouble Ticket And send a notification advise an Acquirer that a Trouble Ticket has been cancelled And stop the SLA clock			
Data Input		Data Output	
Including but not limited to: 1. Trouble Ticket ID, 2. status & reason code		 Updated trouble ticket record and close the Trouble Ticket Send a notification advise Acquirer that the Trouble Ticket is now closed 	
Scenario 2. Unsuccessful	Cancel a Trouble Tid	cket	
	cket is still open		
		he authority to cancel a Trouble Ticket	
		Ticket is yet to be resolved	
Then Fail notific			
Data Input		Data Output	
Including but not limited to Trouble Ticket		1. Failure notification with reason	
ID, status and reason code			
Business Rules			
ID	Description		
N/A	·		

TT-R013	Notify Tr	ouble Ticket Cancelled	
As a	Provider		
I want to	Advise Acquirer that Trouble Ticket has been cancelled		
so that	Trouble Ticket can b	e closed at the Acquirer.	
Description			
A notification	send to the Acquirer	once the Trouble Ticket has been closed as requested	
Scenarios			
Scenario 3. Notify Trouble Ticket Cancelled			
Given	An individual have the	he authority to cancel a Trouble Ticket	
When	A Trouble Ticket has	been cancelled	
Then	Send a notification a	advise Acquirer that Trouble Ticket is now closed	
Data Input		Data Output	
Including but	not limited to:	Send Trouble Ticket cancelled notification	
1. Trouble	ficket ID,		
2. status & reason code			
Business Rules			
ID	Description	on	
N/A			

7.2.5 Change Management

TT-R015	Notify Planned Change/Hazard Notification
As a I want to so that	Provider Notify Acquirer a Planned Change/Hazard is required to resolve the issue The Acquirer is aware of the impact and gain agreement on progression and scheduling.
Description	
	ere Provider has identified a Planned Change/Hazard is required to resolved the vider needs to notify impacted Acquirer(s) in order for them to manage their End-

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

Providor will manago Plar	anod Chango or Ha	zard through Chango Managomont	
Provider will manage Planned Change or Hazard through Change Management			
Notes: No dialogue agreement for Planned outage between Acquirer and Provider is required			
		approval process and is outside of B2B interactions.	
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Send Planned	Change/Hazard no	otification	
		d the need for a Planned Change/Hazard which will	
impact Ac			
	Change/Hazard has	been scheduled	
		nip of the impacted areas, services, all impacted	
	including but not lim		
		pacted Acquirers with the following information,	
		pacted geography, the scheduled time and	
activity de	etails (this will conve	y in the message)	
Data Input		Data Output	
Planned Change/Hazar		Planned Change/Hazard notification with the	
including but not limited	to:	following information, including but not limited to	
1. Geographic area,		impacted geography,	
2. ONT,		1. the scheduled time,	
3. FAN failure,		2. activity details	
4. Engineering work,	riad		
 planned outage pe contact details of (F 			
personnel, impacted	-		
7. Request for RSP participation in testing after change			
	Scenario 2. Send Planned Change/Hazard Completed notification		
		been successfully completed	
	l test has been dete		
Then Send Plan	ned Change/Hazar	d Completed notification	
Data Input		Data Output	
Planned Change/Hazar		Send Planned Change/Hazard Completed	
including but not limited	to:	notification	
1. Geographic area,			
2. ONT,			
3. FAN failure,			
4. Engineering work			
Scenario 3. Notify Planned Change/Hazard Status updateGivenPlanned Change/Hazard has been scheduled			
When Planned Change/Hazard state			
		d status update to all impacted Acquirer(s)	
Data Input		Data Output	
Planned Change/Hazard ID, status		1. Notification send to all impacted Acquirer with	
riannea change/nazar		status details	
Business Rules			
ID	Description		
N/A	Description		

8 BILLING

There are a number of Billing transactions that will be made available to the Acquirer through the B2B interface. These transactions include:

- (i) Tariff/Pricing Information;
- (ii) Billing/Charge Event Data Files;
- (iii) Invoices;
- (iv) Bill Analytics; and
- (v) Enquiries or Disputes.

The ETIS EBG XML electronic billing standard has been proposed as the standard via which billing event data and invoices will be transmitted between Acquirer and Provider.

8.1 Tariff/Pricing

Tariff / Pricing Information for the Provider products and chargeable attributes will be available for download through a B2B Gateway request. The information must provide visibility of current and future product pricing (if known at the time of download) of products.

The following transactions will be available to support Tariff/Pricing information between Acquirer and Provider:

• The Acquirer will be able to perform an ad-hoc request to get Tariff/Pricing information from the Provider



Communications Alliance – NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements – Release 1 – December 2010

FIGURE 13 Acquirer ad-hoc request Tariff/Pricing Information

• The Provider will send a notification to the Acquirer advising of pricing changes



Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010

FIGURE 14 Provider notify Tariff/Pricing Information Changes

8.1.1 Billing User Stories

BIL-R001 Request Tariff/Pricing Info	ormation	
As an Acquirer, I want to request the Tariff/Pricing from the Provider, so that product price		
information can be updated in my syst	em.	
Description		
	uest the current and future prices (if any) for products	
available to the Provider for resale.		
Success criteria		
Correct product pricing details provide	d to the requesting Acquirer	
Scenarios		
Scenario 1: Request Tariff/Pricing Inform	nation	
The Acquirer has at least one active bil When Tariff/Pricing information request by the Then The data set is validated against busine And the Provider retrieves the Tariff/Pric	e Acquirer	
Data Inputs	Data Outputs	
1. Acquirer ID,	1. Acquirer current and future (if known) products	
2. billing account ID	Tariff/Pricing information,	
3. product instance ID	2. volume discount information,	
	3. version/ timing information.	
Business rules		
a) The Provider will only provide tariff	pricing information relevant to the Acquirer as defined by	
the contract(s) and AS profile.		

b) The Acquirer must currently be active within the billing system and able to operate as a reseller, i.e. not deleted or suspended.

BIL-R002 Notify Tariff/Pricing Changes

As a Provider, I want to send a notification to the Acquirer of price changes, so that products prices information can be updated in the Acquirer system(s).

Description

Providers will send a notification to the Acquirer with information of product price changes. This is only sends to the Acquirer once changes have been made in the Provider Billing system.

In cases where Global tariff/pricing changes will announce as per Industry Engagement channel, therefore, will be not be covered in B2B interface.

Success criteria

Updated product pricing details provided to the Acquirer

Scenarios

Scenario: Notify price changes

Given

The Acquirer has at least one active billing account

When

Tariff/Pricing changes

Then

Tariff/Pricing change occurs in the NBN Co product catalogue, including new or deleted products and effective date changes

Data Inputs	Data Outputs
 Product price/tariff details Acquirer ID 	Send a notification to the Acquirer with Tariff/pricing changes information andversion/
3. Billing Account ID(s)	timing/ effective date
Develop a second a s	

Business rules

(1) The Provider will only provide tariff/pricing information relevant to the Acquirer as defined by the AS contract(s) and profile.

(2) The Acquirer must currently be active within the billing system, i.e. not deleted or suspended.

8.1.2 Technical Business Requirements

- (i) The Acquirer can request the current and future (if any) prices for the Provider products the Acquirer is eligible to resell.
- (ii) A notification will be sent to the Acquirer of price changes by the Provider. The notification will contain the product details, current price, new price and future price (if applicable) with effective dates.

8.2 Billing Event Files (BEF)

The following transactions will be available to support the billing interaction between Acquirer and Provider:

• The Provider will send a notification to the Acquirer via the interface



Communications Alliance – NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements – Release 1 – December 2010

FIGURE 15 Provider sends billing event file on a regular basis

• The Acquirer will have the ability to ad-hoc request billing event file



Communications Alliance – NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements – Release 1 – December 2010

FIGURE 16

Acquirer ad-hoc request for billing event file

8.2.1 Billing Event File (BEF) User Stories

 BIL-R003
 Request billing Event File

 As an Acquirer, I want to request Billing Event File from the Provider so that I can on-bill those events to my end-users

Description

The Acquirer will have the ability to request a Billing Event File in the following situations:

- A file that has been previously supplied is required to be resent
- A new file is required prior to the automated delivery of the next scheduled file

The BEF is using the ETIS EBG XML standard

Success criteria

Correct file details received by the Acquirer.

Scenarios

Scenario 1: Request previously supplied BEF

Given

An Acquirer has at least one active billing account

	When
I	WIICH

Requested by the Acquirer

Then

A previously created file is located in the file store by NBN Co based on the parameters provide by the Acquirer and delivered to the Acquirer.

Scenario 2: Request a new BEF prior to the scheduled BEF event

Given

An Acquirer has at least one active billing account

When

Requested by the Acquirer

Then

A file is created containing the account information, file ID, and other identifying characteristics. All the charges and credits created since the last file supplied, if no 'from date' parameter specified, are selected. These details are processed into the standard format and incorporated in the file.

Data Inputs	Data Outputs
Acquirer Request Information including, but not	1. A file is delivered to the Acquirer
limited to:	containing:
 Acquirer ID or Billing Account ID 	 Account details
	 Product codes
	o Bill literal
	o Tariff class
	o Charge details
	 Tax treatment indicator
	 The date/time of charge
	 Service ID (comprising service)
	address and Port ID)
	o Product ID
	 Activation date
	 Charge date for a single Acquirer

Business rules

- 1. Periodically extracted BEF data will be tagged with metadata relating to that extraction (e.g. run date, BEF ID) in the source DBoR.
- 2. AS requested (ad hoc) extracts will not be tagged as above.
- 3. All untagged data will be considered for extraction, i.e. even if the charge event date falls in a prior extract period.
- 4. Acquirer requested (ad hoc) requests will not impact on regular scheduled extracts in any way.

BIL-R004 Send Billing Event File

As a Provider, I want to send a BEF to the Acquirer, so that the Acquirer can process the BEF and then can on-bill those events to their Acquires without being constrained by the Provider's billing cycle.

Description

A Provider will provide the Acquirer with a file of billing event data in an AS configurable cycle frequency. The Provider will send a BEF to the Acquirer advise that the BEF is available.

The BEF is using the ETIS EBG XML standard

Success criteria

Receipt of correct BEF by the Acquirer

Scenarios

Scenario: Deliver Acquirer BEF in a configurable cycle

Given

The Acquirer has at least one active billing account When A scheduled regular interval has been reached Then 1. A file is created containing the account information, file ID, date and other identifying characteristics. All the charges and credits created since the last file was generated are selected and these are processed into a standard format and placed in the file. The file shall contain all recurring charges, once-off charges, rebates, adjustments and usage (if required). Each of the billing event entries in the master DB is marked with the date and file id of the file in which they were placed. 2. Send the BEF to the Acquirer Data Outputs Data Inputs Acquirer charges details, including, but not 2. A file is delivered to the Acquirer limited to: containing: 1. Acquirer ID o Account details o Product codes 2. Billing Account ID o Bill literal o Tariff class o Charge details o Tax treatment indicator o The date/time of charge o Service ID (comprising service address and Port ID) 0 Product ID o Activation date o Charge date for a single Acquirer 3. Refer to ETIS ETEB03 schema for details. Below are the items likely to be used for a Billing Event in the BEF. The names are those of ETIS EBG XML. o LineItemReferenceNumber o ServiceInstance o ServiceProduct o Location ServiceOrder 0 o ChargeTypeld UnitType 0 UnitOfMeasure 0 Number 0 o StartDate o EndDate o NetAmount o TaxType o TaxRate 4. BEF extract event metadata is recorded against the extracted data **Business rules** N/A

8.2.2 BEF Technical Business Requirements

(i) The BEF will be sent to the Acquirer on a configurable cycle timeframe by the Provider.

- (iii) The Acquirer must be able to request the current and future (if known) prices for the Provider Products billed through the BEFs.
- (iv) A unique number must be generated for each BEF and the BEF must support individual line item within the file.
- (v) The BEF will not include the Acquirer payments and Acquirer Account level discounts and adjustments.
- (vi) The Acquirer will have an option to split normal daily events normally non-recurring) and Invoice-generated events (normally recurring) into separate BEFs for provision to the Access Seeker.
- (vii) A single Billing Event File will be associated to single Acquirer Billing Account.
- (viii) No duplicate Billing Event File to be generated and send to the Acquirer.
- (ix) The Billing Event can only exist in only one file.
- (x) Request for historical Billing Event File will be managed via Billing Enquiry.
- (xi) Billing Event File sequence ID will be associated per billing account.
- (xii) The amounts on the Billing events will be net of GST. The Billing events will indicate the tax type and rate eligibility.

8.3 Billing Invoices

Fully electronic invoicing reduces operational costs associated with printing invoices and supports corporate sustainability through minimising environmental impact. An Acquirer will be notified of a new invoice via email and via the online Web Portal provided by the Provider. They can then view the invoice in HTML format and download the invoice from the Web Portal provided by the Provider.

The Billing invoice will be available in an ETIS EBG XML format. This is required so that the data can be imported into the Acquirer's billing, financial and / or reporting systems.

Please note, a PDF or similar format must be available from the Provider as a Tax Invoice for delivery to the Acquirer's accounts payable department.

8.3.1 High Level Transaction Process

The following transactions will be available to support the billing interaction between Acquirer and Provider for Billing Invoices:

• Provider sends Billing Invoice to the Acquirer on a periodic cycle



Communications Alliance – NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements – Release 1 – December 2010



Acquirer can perform an ad-hoc request for previously generated invoices



Communications Alliance - NBN B2B Process Interaction Requirements - Release 1 - December 2010



8.3.2 Billing Invoice User Stories

BIL-R005	Request Past Billing Invoices
As an Acqui of my bills	rer, I want to request past Billing Invoices from the Provider so that I can have a record
Description	
The Acquire retention tim	r will have the ability to request for historic Billing Invoices within a configurable neframe.
Success crit	eria
Acquirer rec	eives correct past invoice
Scenarios	
<u>Scenario 1:</u>	
Given A Acauirer h	as at least one active billing account

A Acquirer has at least one active billing account When Requested by the Acquirer

NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010
Past Billing invoices have been generated and request is within the retention timeframe Then

Provider retrieve the past billing invoices and provides to the Acquirer

Data I	nputs	Data Outputs	
1.	Acquirer ID or Acquirer Billing Account ID	Past Billing invoices in PDF and XML format	
2.	Date	-	
3.	Invoice ID		
Business rules			
limited to invoices available within the configurable retention period			

Limited to invoices available within the configurable retention period.

BIL-R006 Send Billing Invoice

As a Provider, I want to send a Billing Invoice to the Acquirer, so that the Acquirer can receive the bill to make payment on the invoice.

Description

Provider will provide the Acquirer the periodically generated billing invoice on a configurable frequency.

Success criteria

Regular distribution of correct periodic billing invoice.

Scenarios

Scenario: Send Acquirer Billing Invoice on a configurable cycle

Given

An Acquirer has at least one active billing account with an outstanding balance and/or current transactions

When

On a scheduled cycle

Then

Provider generates and sends ETIS EBG XML version to the Acquirer and posts a PDF version on the Acquirer area of the portal.

Data Inputs	Data Outputs	
Acquirer account details, including, but not	ETIS EBG XML and PDF invoice format,	
limited to:	including but not limited to:	
1. Acquirer ID	1. Acquirer ID	
2. Billing Account ID	2. Billing Account ID	
3. Invoice ID	3. Service ID (comprising service address	
	and Port ID)	
	4. Product ID	
	5. Activation date	
	6. Charge date	
	7. Opening balance	
	8. Payments	
	9. Adjustments for a single Acquirer	
	A list a BEF that constitutes the invoice	
	amount	
Business rules		

An invoice is required due to an outstanding balance or new financial transactions.

BIL-R007 Notify Acquirer of Invoice Available Online

As a Provider, I want to send an Invoice online availability notification to the Acquirer, so that the Acquirer can easily reconcile the Invoice to the underlying bill analytics using the Web Portal provided by the Provider.

Description

An Invoice is made available online via the Web Portal provided by the Provider, giving the

Acquirer the opportunity to utilise a PDF version of the Invoice for printing and storing within their system.				
Émail is sent notifying the Acquirer when a new Invoice is available online.				
Success criteria				
The Acquirer successfully received the email notificatio	n			
Scenarios				
Given				
An Acquirer may have many accounts with the Provider				
When				
A new Invoice/s is available for an Acquirer				
Then				
The Provider sends a notification to the Acquirer advising that a new Invoice is available online				
Data Inputs	Data Outputs			
1. Acquirer ID or Billing Account ID	Email notification			
2. Contact e-mail addresses				
Business rules				
N/A				
 Acquirer ID or Billing Account ID Contact e-mail addresses Business rules				

8.3.3 Transaction Business Requirements

8.3.3.1 Billing Invoice Distribution

- The Acquirer will be able to request past billing invoices.
 Past billing invoices will be available for general retrieval for 13 months, and then from archive via a operations support request for the regulated retention period.
- (ii) The Provider will generate and send the Billing invoices to the Acquirer on a configurable billing cycle.
- (iii) Billing invoices will be available for retrieval by the Acquirer in a PDF file format via the B2B or portal provided by the Provider.
- (iv) The Provider will send a notification email alert to the nominated contact or contacts of the Acquirer.

8.3.3.2 Billing Invoice Formatting

- (v) The invoice will be a summary invoice from charges. It will contain rolled up totals for the Acquirer services at a product level as an option.
- (vi) There will be sections for account information including balance brought forward along with details of any account-level adjustments and payments received.
- (vii) The invoice will include a section detailing the Billing Event Files metadata that constitute the bill amount and will reconcile the totals of the BEFs with the bill amount. This reconciliation must cater for later adjustments to a billing event made during the billing period in the reconciliation.

8.4 Billing Enquiries/Disputes

A Billing Enquiry is a type of transaction that will allow Acquirers to ask generic questions, and receive clarifications, relating to their bill. A Billing Dispute will enable the Acquirer to select specific line items, or a group of line items within the bill to formally dispute.

The Billing Enquiry/Dispute capability will be managed via the B2B Gateway or Web Portal, through the same web service provided by the Provider and used for raising a Trouble Ticket. The difference is that the fault type would be either 'billing enquiry' or 'billing dispute'. A workflow will be initiated and assigned to a specific billing workgroup for resolution. Status updates will be available to Acquirers at key points along the resolution process, as per FIGURE 19.



FIGURE 19 Acquirer Raises Billing Dispute/Enquiry

8.4.1 Billing Disputes/ Enquiries: Technical Business Requirements

- (i) The Acquirer must be able to raise a billing dispute or enquiry through B2B as per the Trouble Ticketing transaction process FIGURE 10.
- (ii) A single Reference ID will be provided to the Acquirer for billing enquiries and dispute management for a given ticketed event.
- (iii) The Provider must provide updates to the Acquirer when the status of a billing enquiry or dispute changes as per Trouble Ticketing status update.
- (iv) The Provider must provide for a billing dispute to include a large number of individual billing items or events.
- (v) The dispute transaction functionality must support a bulk dispute to be submitted covering multiple items in a single action.
- (vi) The status of a dispute must be available for the Acquirer to retrieve at all times.

- (viii) Dispute reason code must be provided.
- (ix) The transaction must support a billing enquiry to be converted into a billing dispute.
- (x) A Billing dispute or enquiry summary must be available to the Acquirer via request or retrieval.

8.5 Bill Reporting

Acquirers will be able to submit the following bill reporting via B2B interface:

- List of past BEFs
- List of past Invoices
- Payment history by date range
- List of Billing Accounts per Acquirer ID
- Billing account position
- List of Billing Account level adjustment, rebate and discount
- Dispute/Enquiry information (historical and current)

FIGURE 20 illustrates high level transaction process for query bill reporting.





8.5.1 Bill Reporting User Stories

BIL-R008 Acquirer Uses Bill Analytics

As an Acquirer, I want to perform analytics on my billing data so that I can use that information to help run my business, and so that I will not need to contact the Provider to supply that information to me.

Description

Bill analytics assists a number of business functions within an Acquirer. This includes financial

reconciliation of billing data to NBN-supplied Invoices. It also provides information about the cost of NBN Services that comprise the Products the Acquirer supplies to its End-Users. For a wholesale / aggregator Acquirer, it also provides insight into its End-user's buying. Information from the analytics is grouped around areas meaningful to the Acquirer's business processes and typically includes items such as Product, location or geographic grouping and dates. Adding the ability for the Acquirer to add descriptive tags to the Products allows the grouping to be even more relevant and reduces the need for Acquirer requested changes to the NBN billing solution to achieve that same purpose. (As example, the Acquirer-added descriptions may add information such as General Ledger grouping, their End-User Product, or Acquire segmentation; this is not contained in Provider billing solutions other than the analytics and has no bearing on the Invoice). The benefit to the Provider from supplying analytics is to increase self-service and reduce the need for Acquirers to contact the Provider for the information they can obtain for themselves. Success criteria A Billing dispute or enguiry summary must be available to the Acquirer via request or retrieval. Scenarios Scenario 1: Acquirer request Billing Report Given An Acquirer has many accounts with Provider When The Acquirer needs retrieve a billing report provided by the Provider. Then The data set is validated against business rules And the Provider generate the billing report and response to the Acquirer request Data Inputs Data Outputs 1. Acquirer ID 1. Report ID 2. Report Type 2. Report XML or Link to portal a. List of past BEFs b. List of past Invoices c. Payment history by date range d. List of Billing Accounts per Acquirer ID e. Billing account position f. List of Billing Account level adjustment, rebate and discount g. Dispute/Enquiry information (historical and current) 3 **Business rules** Report will normally be provided via web services in XML unless greater than a practical size for

8.5.2 Bill Reporting: Technical Business Requirements

- (i) The Acquirer can only request their own information in a billing report.
- (ii) The Acquirer can request raw billing data to build their own billing report into their existing billing system.
- (iii) The Acquirer can request a standard billing report provided by the Provider.
- (iv) All billing data for reporting to be available for a configurable period of time after which it will be archived.

web service provisioning (TBD)

PRODUCT CATALOGUE ENQUIRY-USER STORIES 9

PC-R001 Query Product Catalogue				
As an Acquirer, I want to request details of my Product Catalogue as contracted with the Provider,				
so that I can use have update product catalogue info	rmation e.g. product catalogue version			
Description				
The Acquirer is able to request for Product Catalogue	, Product Version and Product Specification			
information relevant to the Acquirer.				
Scenarios				
Scenario 1: Acquirer request Product Catalogue				
Given				
The Acquirer has been authenticated and is authorize When	a to request Product Catalogue Information			
The Acquirer provides a specific product				
Then				
The data set is validated against business rules				
And the Provider provides a list of Products and Produc	ct Version to the Acquirer.			
Data Inputs	Data Outputs			
1. Acquirer ID	1. List of Products and Product versions			
2. Product ID				
Scenario 2: Acquirer request Specific Product Catalog				
Given The Acquirer has been authenticated and is au	thorized to request Product Catalogue			
information	advet Marrie a			
When The Acquirer provides a valid Product ID and Pro	Dauct version			
Then The data set is validated against business rules And the Provider provides Product specification to the Acquirer.				
Data Inputs Data Outputs				
1. Acquirer ID	1. Product specification (e.g. in XML			
2. Product ID	format)			
3. Product Version				
Business rules				
Acquirer can only request the Product Catalogue, Pro	duct Version and Product Specification			
information relevant to them as contract with the Prov				

PC-R002 Notify Product Update

As a Provider, I want to send a notification to the impacted Acquired of product changes, so that they are aware and can update in their system

Description

Provider sends a notification to the impacted (contracted) Acquirer advising of product changes, for example: new product version is available or a price changed).

Global Product changes, i.e. a new product constructed will be communicated via the Industry Engagement channel. This notification is only apply for changes to existing products.

Scenarios

Scenario 1: Notify Product Catalogue Update

Given The product information has been updated in the Provider system When impacted Acquirer(s) has been identified.

Then a notification sends to the Acquirer

Data Inputs

Data Outputs 1. Acquirer ID A notification sent to the Acquirer with the 2. Product ID product version and specification (XML format) attached

Business rules

Acquirer can only request the Product Catalogue, Product Version and Product Specification information relevant to them as contract with the Provider.

10 NETWORK TESTING, PERFORMANCE & DIAGNOSTICS MANAGEMENT

10.1	Network Testing & Diagnostics

NTD-001	Request	Test		
As an	Acquirer			
I want to		request a test (of the appropriate type) of the service within the Provider's		
	domain			
so that	A success	ful resolution of an Trouble Ticket can be confirmed		
Description				
Acquirer hav	e the ability	to submit test request to identify if there is any issue or to confirm		
successful reso	olution of a	Trouble Ticket		
		tomatically by the system with a defined set of test procedures. If		
	est is failed t	hen manual test will be performed.		
Scenarios				
		ubmit service test request and service passes automated test		
Given		has been authenticated and is authorized to request		
		has determined the appropriate type of test for the service, and nature		
When		uble Ticket , and prioritizes the tests to be performed rvice ID has been provided		
Then		alidates against business rules		
men		he service ID to access Assurance suite to perform an automated test		
		and return the successful result		
Data Input	androtan	Data Output		
1. Service	ID	Send successful test notification to Acquirer with		
2. Test Typ	е	test result report		
Scenario 2. Su	iccessfully s	ubmit service test request and service fails automated test		
Given				
	Acquirer has determined the appropriate type of test for the service, and nature			
		uble Ticket, and prioritizes the tests to be performed		
When		rvice ID has been provided		
Then	Provider validates against business rules			
	Then use the service ID to access Assurance system to perform an automated test			
	and return the fail result And Acquired can raise a Trouble Ticket with the Provider			
Data Input Data Output				
1. Service ID		Send fail test result report to the Acquirer		
2. Test Type				
Business Rules				
ID		Description		
N/A				
L		1		

NTD-002	Request Minor Service Indicator		
As an	Acquirer		
I want to	request service information		
so that	I can identify any minor service indicators that are occuring on	the service	
Description			
The Acquirer will be able to request service information to identify any minor service indicators that are occurring on the Service, for example: NTU power status.			
Scenarios			
Scenario 1. Request Minor Service IndicatorGivenAcquirer has been authenticated and is authorized to request for minor service			
NBN B2B INTERACTION PROCESS REQUIREMENTS SPECIFICATION COPYRIGH			

RELEASE 1 DECEMBER 2010

When Then	indicator A valid Service ID has been provided Provider validates against business rules Provider retrieves service information and responses to the Acquirer's request.			
Data Input				
Service ID		Send service information to the Acquirer		
Scenario 2. Fa	Scenario 2. Failed request Minor Service Indicator			
Given	Acquirer has been authenticated and is authorized to request for minor service			
	indicator			
When	A invalid Service ID has been provided			
Then	Provider validates against business rules			
	Provider sends a failed notification to the Acquirer.			
Data Input		Data Output		
Service ID		Send service information to the Acquirer		
Business Rules				
ID		Description		
N/A				

10.2 Performance – SLA/QOS Management

PM-001	Request	Performance Data	
As an I want to so that	Acquirer have the ability to request performance information from the Provider I can proactively determine how the Provider's service is performing, and be able to take action if problems exist		
Description	Description		
The Access Seeker will be able to send a request for a service performance report. Test will be performed automatically by the system with a defined set of test procedures. If automated test is failed then manual test will be performed.			
Scenarios			
<u>Scenario 1. Re</u> Given When Then	And Acquirer is authorised to request When A valid Service ID has been provided		
			Data Output
	1. Acquirer ID		Send performance data to the Acquirer
Scenario 2. Fa	iled to Requ	uest Performane Dat	a
Given When Then	GivenAcquirer has determined the appropriate type of test for the service, and nature of the Trouble Ticket , and prioritizes the tests to be performedWhenAn invalid Service ID has been provided		
Data Input			Data Output
1. Acquirer ID Service ID			Send fail notification to the Acquirer
Business Rules			
ID		Description	
N/A			

11 NON-FUNCTIONAL REQUIREMENTS

11.1 B2B Certification

Detail still under development.

11.2 Security

Detail still under development.

11.3 Auditability

Detail still under development.

11.4 B2B Service Assurance

11.4.1 Availability & Business Continuity

Detail still under development.

11.5 Performance & Performance Management

Detail still under development.

12 REFERENCES

Communications Alliance NBN Publications

Available from

www.commsalliance.com.au/Documents/national-broadband-network

National Broadband Network Reference Architecture – High Level Architecture Options for the NBN (Release 1)

National Broadband Network Wholesale Service Definition Framework – Ethernet (Release 1)

National Broadband Network - Overview of Technical Standards (Release 1)

National Broadband Network – Planning Express Conduit (Release 1)

National Broadband Network - Fibre Ready Distribution Networks (Release 1)

National Broadband Network – Optical Access (Release 1)

National Broadband Network – Wholesale Service Description Framework – Telephony Access Service (Release 1)

National Broadband Network End User Premises Handbook (Release 2)

Draft National Broadband Network - End User Migration Reference Model

Communications Alliance was formed in 2006 to provide a unified voice for the Australian communications industry and to lead it into the next generation of converging networks, technologies and services.

In pursuing its goals, Communications Alliance offers a forum for the industry to make coherent and constructive contributions to policy development and debate.

Communications Alliance seeks to facilitate open, effective and ethical competition between service providers while ensuring efficient, safe operation of networks, the provision of innovative services and the enhancement of consumer outcomes.

It is committed to the achievement of the policy objective of the *Telecommunications Act 1997* - the greatest practicable use of industry self-regulation without imposing undue financial and administrative burdens on industry.



Published by: COMMUNICATIONS ALLIANCE LTD

Level 9 32 Walker Street North Sydney NSW 2060 Australia

Correspondence PO Box 444 Milsons Point NSW 1565

T 61 2 9959 9111 F 61 2 9954 6136 TTY 61 2 9923 1911 E info@commsalliance.com.au www.commsalliance.com.au ABN 56 078 026 507

Care should be taken to ensure the material used is from the current version of the Standard or Industry Code and that it is updated whenever the Standard or Code is amended or revised. The number and date of the Standard or Code should therefore be clearly identified. If in doubt please contact Communications Alliance